### PAPER • OPEN ACCESS

# Rays, waves, SU(2) symmetry and geometry: toolkits for structured light

To cite this article: Yijie Shen 2021 J. Opt. 23 124004

View the article online for updates and enhancements.

### You may also like

- <u>Atoms in complex twisted light</u> Mohamed Babiker, David L Andrews and Vassilis E Lembessis
- <u>Dual electromagnetism: helicity, spin,</u> <u>momentum and angular momentum</u> Konstantin Y Bliokh, Aleksandr Y Bekshaev and Franco Nori
- <u>Single chamber multiple degree-of-</u> freedom soft pneumatic actuator enabled by adjustable stiffness lavers Junius Santoso, Erik H Skorina, Marco Salerno et al.



## IOP ebooks<sup>™</sup>

Bringing together innovative digital publishing with leading authors from the global scientific community.

Start exploring the collection-download the first chapter of every title for free.

2040-8986/21/124004+39\$33.00 Printed in the UK

### Journal of Optics https://doi.org/10.1088/2040-8986/ac3676

J. Opt. 23 (2021) 124004 (39pp)

# Rays, waves, SU(2) symmetry and geometry: toolkits for structured light

### Yijie Shen 💿

Abstract

Optoelectronics Research Centre, University of Southampton, Southampton SO17 1BJ, United Kingdom

E-mail: y.shen@soton.ac.uk

Received 20 July 2021, revised 21 October 2021 Accepted for publication 3 November 2021 Published 22 November 2021

Structured light refers to the ability to tailor optical patterns in all its degrees of freedom, from conventional 2D transverse patterns to exotic forms of 3D, 4D, and even higher-dimensional modes of light, which break fundamental paradigms and open new and exciting applications for both classical and quantum scenarios. The description of diverse degrees of freedom of light can be based on different interpretations, e.g. rays, waves, and quantum states, that are based on different assumptions and approximations. In particular, recent advances highlighted the exploiting of geometric transformation under general symmetry to reveal the 'hidden' degrees of freedom of light, allowing access to higher dimensional control of light. In this tutorial, I outline the basics of symmetry and geometry to describe light, starting from the basic mathematics and physics of SU(2) symmetry group, and then to the generation of complex states of light, leading to a deeper understanding of structured light with connections between rays and waves, quantum and classical. The recent explosion of related applications are reviewed, including advances in multi-particle optical tweezing, novel forms of topological photonics, high-capacity classical and quantum communications, and many others, that, finally, outline what the future might hold for this rapidly evolving field.

Supplementary material for this article is available online

Keywords: structured light, SU(2) symmetry, ray-wave duality, geometric modes, quantum–classical connection, laser, angular momentum of light

(Some figures may appear in colour only in the online journal)

Original Content from this work may be used under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 licence. Any further distribution of this work must maintain attribution to the author(s) and the title of the work, journal citation and DOI.





### Contents

1. Introduction	3
2. The general symmetry of light	3
2.1. Matrix representation of rotation: SU(2) and SO(3)	4
2.2. SU(2) in physics	6
3. Rays and waves: from quantum to classical	8
3.1. Schrödinger coherent state	8
3.2. SU(2) coherent state	8
3.3. Frequency-degenerate state	10
3.4. Ray-wave duality	11
4. Higher-order geometric patterns of light	13
4.1. Lissajous-to-trochoidal parametric surface mode	14
4.2. Multi-axis Hermite-Laguerre-Gaussian mode	15
4.3. Planar-to-vortex multi-path geometric mode	15
4.4. From coherent state to eigenstate	16
5. Hybrid-order and vectorial structured light	16
5.1. Hybrid-order SU(2) geometric mode	16
5.2. Hybrid-order SU(2) vector beam	16
5.3. General SU(2) vector beams	17
6. Generation of geometric modes of light	18
6.1. Laser generation of SU(2) geometric beam	18
6.2. Laser generation of higher-order SU(2) geometric beam	19
6.3. Laser generation of hybrid-order and vectorial SU(2) geometric beam	20
6.4. Digital generation of SU(2) structured wave-packet	21
7. Geometric representations of geometric light	22
7.1. Poincaré sphere: from polarization to OAM	22
7.2. Ray-optics Poincaré sphere for structured Gaussian eigenmodes	24
7.3. General SU(2) Poincaré sphere for ray-wave structured light	25
8. Other kinds of SU(2) structured light	25
8.1. Polygonal vortex beams	26
8.2. Astigmatic hybrid SU(2) geometric beams	27
8.3. Resonate SU(2) geometric beams	27
8.4. Localized SU(2) geometric microlaser beams	28
8.5. Commensurate harmonic oscillator coupled geometric beams and beyond	28
8.6. Classically entangled SU(2) structured light	29
9. Potential applications	32
9.1. Laser machining and fabrication	32
9.2. Complex tweezers and multi-particle manipulation	33
9.3. Topological photonics	33
9.4. High-capacity encoding and communication	34
9.5. High-dimensional quantum information processing	35
9.6. Others	35
10. Perspectives	35
Data availability statement	36
Acknowledgments	36
References	36

### 1. Introduction

There is a saying by Claude Debussy (1862.8.22–1918.3.25), a French impressionist musician, that 'Music is the arithmetic of sounds as optics is the geometry of light.' Indeed, although belonging to very different disciplines, music and optics are inextricably related by the similarity of their physical structures, as unveiled by Debussy. In Debussy's age, rays and geometric optics were still the most prevailing tools to describe light, thus Debussy used the term of 'geometry of light.' While, soon after, wave optics emerged as a new branch of optics to describe light by waves gradually took the upper hand, and it was argued that geometric optics is just a special case of wave optics when the wavelength is approaching zero [1]. As time went on, more branches of optics emanated to unveil deeper physics and general structures of light, such as electromagnetic optics, quantum optics, and recent advances of quantum-classical connection [2-4] (figure 1). Today, the relationship between music and optics can be more deeply understood because more tools have emerged to describe light. For instance, the connection between music and optics can be made explicitly by considering sound and light as waves, as the sound (acoustic wave) and the light (electromagnetic wave) are both waves. Debussy's story inspires people to everlastingly pursue the more general structures of light by toolkits including rays and waves in order to deepen the understanding of the beauty of nature and science.

In recent advances of structured light, peoples have been able to control customized structures of light in many degreesof-freedom (DoFs) such as intensity, phase, polarization, orbital angular momentum (OAM), fuelling fundamental physics and practical applications for both quantum and classical fields [5–9]. While it is still an everlasting topic to push the limit of structured light into higher dimensions and flexibility. The key to address this challenge is to explore the most fundamental symmetry of light, so as to exploit diverse tools to construct on-demand structured light in a better way. In fundamental physics, many kinds of symmetric groups were used to deal with special physical problems [10]. For instance, SU(2) is a general symmetry describing paraxial particle beams, and SO(3) generally describing the particle behavior in central potential fields [10]. Thus, the SU(2) symmetry can provide a basic tool to describe a general set of paraxial light beams, which has been widely applied in optics, such as photon statistics [11–13], beam splitter [14], polarization optics [15–17], and nonlinear wave-packet dynamics [18, 19]. However, the use of SU(2) (symmetry) in the structured light community is still in its adolescence. Thus, it is an advantage to exploit SU(2) mathematics and physics to establish generalized types of structured light for extending its advanced applications.

In this tutorial, the quintessential tools to tailor light, rays, waves, symmetry and geometry, are discussed in a unified and generalized framework. In particular, it demonstrates how to exploit mathematics of SU(2) symmetry to tailor non-trivial geometric pattern and ray-wave coupled structures of light. The theoretical framework especially unveils new field of applied physics such as higher-dimensional mode control and quantum–classical connections. Catering the structured

light revolution, I concentrate on new understanding of diverse exotic forms of structured light based on the physics of SU(2) symmetry and geometry, and how this has fueled many exciting applications, appealing to a broad applied physics community and in particular those optical physicists working in multi-disciplinary fields. This tutorial starts from several fundamental questions then toward profound and universal mechanism, the style of which will make it useful to students and emerging researchers, while the comprehensive review nature will make it invaluable to senior researchers in the field too.

The content of this tutorial is arranged as follows. The following section 2 firstly answers the question—what is the universal symmetry to describe light?-the SU(2) symmetry, and provides the clear mathematical basis of SU(2) (symmetry, matrix, group, operation and transformation). Then, I demonstrate how the basic mathematics is used in physics, especially, the quantum linear oscillator, and how the SU(2)coupled linear oscillator theory is used to describe a general family of structured light modes. In section 3, the framework of SU(2) symmetry of light is extended to develop the intriguing classical-quantum coupled theory-ray-wave duality, whereby more diversified structured light beams can be represented as the generalized coherent state superposed by various eigenstates. Such generalized ray-wave structured light has more intriguing properties of OAM frequencydegeneracy, multiple singularities, etc. The further generalization of complex structured light carries on in next sections 4 and 5, including the higher-order ray-wave geometric light corresponding to the generally coupled linear oscillators at 3D spatially orthogonal directions, encompassing exotic Lissajous and trochoidal curve patterns, and the hybrid-order geometric mode as the hybrid superposition of different coherent state wave-packets. In section 6, the methods of experimental generation of various kinds of ray-wave structured light are reviewed, including the at-the-source generation from a laser cavity and the passive modulation by digital holography. In section 7, a graphical representation is given to show that the complex ray-wave geometric light can be elegantly mapped on generalized Poincaré sphere, as an simplified but very versatile model guiding applications. The SU(2) structured light is a general concept, where many other extensions not covered above, we review other exotic SU(2) structured light. In section 9, many potential applications of SU(2) structured light are discussed taking advantage of its unique properties such as ray-wave duality, multiple DoFs, and high-dimensional state. Finally in section 10, we give the perspective of future development of light with general geometric patterns.

### 2. The general symmetry of light

Symmetry is a basic tool for human being to recognize and classify natural objects. In mathematics, symmetry has more precise definitions and classifications, and is usually used to refer to an object that is invariant under some transformations, including mirror reflection, arbitrary rotation (circular), or rotation of specific angle, and so on. Some examples of objects with different kinds of symmetry in daily life are



Figure 1. The schematic diagram of the evolution of branches of optics.



Figure 2. Selective natural pictures with various kinds of symmetry (mirror symmetry, circular symmetry, and rotational symmetry). The snowflake image comes from https://unsplash.com/photos/rGzUMs-QsCM, other images belong to the author.

shown in figure 2. Among which, rotational symmetry (the third column of figure 2) is a phenomenon widely existed in nature, from the movement of galaxies to ocean circulation and typhoon vortices and even to spiral galaxies in the milky way, manifesting themselves not only in macroscopic matter but also in structured electromagnetic and optical fields. In modern mathematics, symmetries are generally defined as invariances under transformations. In the case rotational symmetry, it can be defined as invariance under SU(2) or SO(3) transformation, where SO(3) is the rotation group acting on 3D vectors whereas SU(2) correspond to special unitary transformation on complex 2D vectors, which are very useful to simplify various profound models in particle physics [10]. In fundamental physical courses, SU(2) can be widely seen, which is a general symmetry describing paraxial particle systems such as photon or electron beam, as the SO(3) describing the particle behavior in central potential field, such as the hydrogen atom. Thus, SU(2) provides the basic tool to describe a general set of paraxial light beams.

SU(2) symmetry has been applied in optics in various communities for a long time, such as photon statistics [11-13], beam splitter [14], polarization optics [15–17], and nonlinear wave-packet dynamics [18, 19], to name a few. In the structured light community, SU(2) symmetry is still understudied. Recently, the structured light has attracted growing interest due to its ability to tailor customized distribution of arbitrary DoFs such as intensity, phase, polarization, and OAM [8, 20]. SU(2) transformation has been used in structured light as they are the basis of many transformations and are realized by a large variety of optical elements, and promises to be a useful tool in the exploration of new horizons. Thus, it is an implied advantage to apply SU(2) mathematics and physics to establish more generalized structured light model for extending its applications in more potential dimensions.

Y Shen

### 2.1. Matrix representation of rotation: SU(2) and SO(3)

quantum optics

Mathematically, a rotation in 2D plane can be represented by a  $2 \times 2$  matrix. If a certain point with coordinate (x, y) is rotated counterclockwise by an  $\alpha$  angle around the origin, this process can be represented by a transformation of two-dimensional rotation matrix:

$$\begin{bmatrix} x'\\y' \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \cos\alpha & \sin\alpha\\ -\sin\alpha & \cos\alpha \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x\\y \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (1)

The rotation matrix can be written as the linear combination of two basic matrices, the identity matrix and orthogonal rotation matrix:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \cos\alpha & \sin\alpha \\ -\sin\alpha & \cos\alpha \end{bmatrix} = \cos\alpha \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} + \sin\alpha \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (2)



**Figure 3.** (a) The 2D vector rotation in a complex plane. (b) The 3D vector rotation in a pure quaternion space. (c)–(e) The 3D coordinate rotation transformation based on the three Euler angles.

Equivalently, the 2D coordinates can be considered as the real and imaginary parts of the complex number, and the rotation matrix can be expressed as the matrix form of the complex number of argument of  $\alpha$ , the complex number formation of rotation operation is given by:

$$x' + iy' = (\cos \alpha + i \sin \alpha) (x + iy), \qquad (3)$$

corresponding to the transformation form a complex number  $z_1 = x' + iy'$  to another  $z_2 = x + iy$  as shown in figure 3(a).

Because beams of light are actually defined in 3D space, with a longitudinal axis (z) and transverse plane (x, y), we will also consider how these 2D rotations can be generalized in 3D. For the 3D rotation, the operation can also be represented by matrix, as well by the quaternion formation (akin to the complex number formation) [21], that q = a + bi + cj + dk, where  $i^2 = j^2 = k^2 = ijk = -1$ . When a = 0, the quaternion only has imaginary parts, namely the pure quaternion q = bi + cj + dk, which can represents an arbitrary 3D vector  $\nu = (b, c, d)^T$ . Without loss of generality, we consider the rotation axis passing through the origin,  $u = u_x i + u_y j + u_z k$  ( $u_x = \sin\beta_1 \cos\beta_2$ ,  $u_y = \sin\beta_1 \sin\beta_2$ ,  $u_z = \cos\beta_1$ ), a 3D vector  $q_1 = x_1i + y_1j + z_1k$  is transformed into  $q_2 = x_2i + y_2j + z_2k$  after rotation by a  $\varphi$  angle, as shown in figure 3(b). This transformation can be expressed by the multiplication of quaternion:

$$q_2 = vq_1, \tag{4}$$

where the transformation quaternion is given by:

$$\nu = \cos\beta_3 + \sin\beta_3 u_x i + \sin\beta_3 u_y j + \sin\beta_3 u_z k.$$
 (5)

Therefore, a certain quaternion q = a + bi + cj + dk can generally represent a rotation transformation in 3D space, the matrix formation of which can be given by [22]:

$$Q = \begin{bmatrix} a & -b & -c & -d \\ b & a & d & -c \\ c & -d & a & b \\ d & c & -b & a \end{bmatrix},$$
 (6)

that can be simplified into a  $2 \times 2$  partitioned matrix and each partitioned part represented by a complex number:

$$Q = \begin{bmatrix} a+bi & -c+di \\ c+di & a-bi \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (7)

The quaternion is always defined under normalization  $a^2 + b^2 + c^2 + d^2 = 1$ , correspondingly, the matrix Q of equation (7) is a unitary matrix, that can be written into argument formation:

$$Q = \begin{bmatrix} e^{-i\theta/2}\cos(\varphi/2) & e^{i\theta/2}\sin(\varphi/2) \\ -e^{-i\theta/2}\sin(\varphi/2) & e^{i\theta/2}\cos(\varphi/2) \end{bmatrix} \triangleq SU(2).$$
(8)

In mathematics, the special unitary group SU(2) is the group of  $2 \times 2$  unitary matrices with determinant 1. Thus, equation (8) can be seen as a definition of SU(2) matrix. SU(2) symmetry means the symmetry under SU(2) matrix transformation. The group constructed by the matrix multiply operation is termed as SU(2) group, which is isomorphic to the group of all normalized quaternions transformation, completely describing the 3D fixed-axis rotation and generally revealing the spatial axial rotation symmetry.

SU(2) group completely describes the 3D fixed-axis rotation operation, while the rotation axis can be selected arbitrarily, thus it actually represents general 3D spatial rotation. A well endorsed description of arbitrary 3D rigid body rotation is using Euler angles [23],  $\alpha, \beta, \gamma$ , corresponding to three composed elemental rotations [rotations about the three axes through the origin of a coordinate system, see figures 3(c)–(e)], with matrix representations of:

$$R_{z}(\alpha) = \begin{bmatrix} \cos \alpha & \sin \alpha & 0 \\ -\sin \alpha & \cos \alpha & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix},$$

$$R_{y}(\beta) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \cos \beta & \sin \beta \\ 0 & -\sin \beta & \cos \beta \end{bmatrix}, R_{x}(\gamma) = \begin{bmatrix} \cos \gamma & 0 & -\sin \gamma \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ \sin \gamma & 0 & \cos \gamma \end{bmatrix},$$
(9)

and the general rotation is represented by the multiplicative matrix. In mathematics, 3D rotation group, often denoted SO(3), is the group of all rotations about the origin of  $\mathbb{R}^3$  under the operation of composition. Thus, the SO(3) matrix can be defined by:

$$SO(3) = R_z(\alpha)R_y(\beta)R_x(\gamma).$$
(10)

Three-dimensional real space rotation can be equivalently represented by the SU(2) matrix of a two-dimensional complex plane,

$$SU(2) = U_1(\alpha)U_2(\beta)U_3(\gamma), \tag{11}$$

where

$$U_{1}(\alpha) = \begin{bmatrix} e^{i\alpha/2} & 0\\ 0 & e^{-i\alpha/2} \end{bmatrix},$$
  

$$U_{2}(\beta) = \begin{bmatrix} \cos(\beta/2) & \sin(\beta/2)\\ -\sin(\beta/2) & \cos(\beta/2) \end{bmatrix}, U_{3}(\gamma) = \begin{bmatrix} e^{i\gamma/2} & 0\\ 0 & e^{-i\gamma/2} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(12)

This rotation model leads us to the most intuitive approach: while the quaternion and the Euler description can both describe 3D rotations, the Euler description can suffer from singularity issues (Gimbal lock), a problem known in the world of animation, making the quaternion representation advantageous in some cases.

Locally, SU(2) and SO(3) groups are isomorphic, based on equations (10)–(12). SU(2) matrix can be safely used for optics if the possible transformations of optical field are unitary in the general condition.

### 2.2. SU(2) in physics

2.2.1. SU(2) in classical mechanics. SU(2) provides a very simplified expression for complex spatial rotation, which has a large number of applications in physics. For instance of the classical mechanics, it is widely used to describe macroscopic and microscopic oscillation phenomena [24–26]. The 2D harmonic oscillation can be expressed as  $x = A_x \cos(\omega_1 t + \phi_1), y = A_y \cos(\omega_2 t + \phi_2)$ , where  $A_x (A_y)$  refer to the amplitude,  $\omega_1 (\omega_2)$  the frequency of oscillation,  $\phi_1 (\phi_2)$  the phase factor at x (y) direction. Applying additional rotation motion onto a 2D harmonic oscillation [ $x_1(t), y_1(t)$ ], we can realize a periodic trochoidal motion [ $x_2(t), y_2(t)$ ], this process yields an SU(2) transformation:

$$\begin{bmatrix} x_2\\ y_2 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} e^{-i\theta/2}\cos\left(\varphi/2\right) & e^{i\theta/2}\sin\left(\varphi/2\right)\\ -e^{-i\theta/2}\sin\left(\varphi/2\right) & e^{i\theta/2}\cos\left(\varphi/2\right) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_1\\ y_1 \end{bmatrix}, \quad (13)$$

where the oscillation with a trajectory of Lissajous curve is transformed into the oscillation with a trochoidal trajectory, see figure 4 for the example illustration with parameters of  $\omega_1/\omega_2 = 1/4$ ,  $A_1 = A_2$ ,  $\phi_1 = \phi_2 = 0$ ,  $\theta = \varphi = \pi/2$ . Summarily, the SU(2) provides a compact mathematical tools to describe more complex group of classical motion modes, i.e. the modes coupled to Lissajous-trochoidal geometric curves.

2.2.2. SU(2) in quantum mechanics and optics. In quantum mechanics, the physical quantity is not represented by real functions, e.g. x(t) and y(t), but by operators, e.g.  $\hat{a}_x$  and  $\hat{a}_y$  (the hat symbol ' $\gamma$ ' will be omitted hereinafter in this article just for the convenience of writing), and the detailed possibility distribution (wavefunction) of corresponding operator is determined by a certain Hamiltonian [27]. For a simple 1D linear oscillator, the Hamiltonian is given by:

$$\mathcal{H} = \frac{1}{2m}p^2 + \frac{1}{2}m\omega^2 x^2$$
$$= \frac{1}{2}\left(a^{\dagger}a + aa^{\dagger}\right)\hbar\omega = \left(a^{\dagger}a + \frac{1}{2}\right)\hbar\omega, \qquad (14)$$



**Figure 4.** Schematics of 2D harmonic oscillators: (a) the oscillation is composed by two linear oscillations with frequency  $\omega_1$  and  $\omega_2$  along a Lissajous curve; (b) the oscillation is composed by two angular oscillations with frequency  $\omega_1$  and  $\omega_2$  along a trochoidal curve.

where *m* is the mass,  $\omega$  is the unperturbed frequency, *p* is the momentum operator, *x* is the coordinate operator,  $a^{\dagger}$  and *a* are the ladder (creation and annihilation) operators of photon, and  $\hbar$  is the reduced Planck constant. Under coordinate representation, the discrete eigenstates  $|n\rangle$  (n = 0, 1, 2, ...) are solved by Hermite function:

$$\langle \xi | n \rangle = \sqrt{\frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi} 2^n n!}} H_n(\xi) e^{-\xi^2/2}, \qquad (15)$$

where  $\xi = \sqrt{m\omega/\hbar} \cdot x$ , and  $H_n$  represents Hermite polynomials, with corresponding eigenvalues:

$$E_n = \left(n + \frac{1}{2}\right)\hbar\omega,\tag{16}$$

Generally, the Hamiltonian for the 3D linear harmonic oscillator is given by:

$$\mathcal{H} = \sum_{j} \frac{1}{2} \left( a_{j}^{\dagger} a_{j} + a_{j} a_{j}^{\dagger} \right) \hbar \omega_{j} = \sum_{j} \left( a_{j}^{\dagger} a_{j} + \frac{1}{2} \right) \hbar \omega_{j}, \quad (17)$$

where j = x, y, z. We take the application in optics for an illustration. The representation of a laser beam often includes transverse and longitudinal modes, which are yielded by the Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}_0 = (a_x^{\dagger}a_x + a_y^{\dagger}a_y + 1)\hbar\omega_0 +$  $(a_z^{\dagger}a_z + \frac{1}{2})\hbar\omega_z$  for the 3D transversely symmetric harmonic oscillator in quantum optics [28], where  $\omega_0$  and  $\omega_z$  are the frequencies of linear oscillations at transverse and longitudinal directions,  $a_i^{\dagger}$  and  $a_i$  are the creation and annihilation operators for the photon of transverse mode (i = x, y) and longitudinal mode (i = z), and  $\hbar$  is the reduced Planck constant. The eigenstates  $|n, m, l\rangle$   $(n, m, l \in N)$  of the Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}_0$  can be generated by the ladder properties of creation operators from the fundamental Gaussian mode as the ground state [28, 29]:

$$|n,m,l\rangle = \frac{(a_{x}^{\dagger})^{n}}{\sqrt{n!}} \frac{(a_{y}^{\dagger})^{m}}{\sqrt{m!}} \frac{(a_{z}^{\dagger})^{l}}{\sqrt{l!}} |0,0,0\rangle,$$
(18)

with eigenfrequency of  $\omega_{n,m,l} = \omega_T + \omega_L$ , where the transverse mode frequency  $\omega_T = (n + m + 1)\omega_0$  and longitudinal mode frequency  $\omega_L = (l + 1/2)\omega_z$ . Eigenstates as described



**Figure 5.** SU(2) eigenstate of coherent field for representing HLG mode: the wavepacket of  $|\psi_{n,m,l}^{(\theta,\varphi)}\rangle$  (n = 4, m = 3) versus  $\theta$  and  $\phi$ . The plotting is based on the principal in [30] (colormap: darkness to brightness means 0 to 1 for intensity and  $-\pi$  to  $\pi$  for phase).

by equation (18) are just corresponding to the well-known Hermite–Gaussian (HG) modes under the Cartesian coordinate representation, with the transverse mode indices of n and m at x- and y-directions respectively, and the longitudinal mode index l at z-direction; and corresponding to Laguerre– Gaussian (LG) modes under the representation of cylindrical coordinate.

Nevertheless, recent advance of structured light unveiled that a laser beam can also harness complex patterns outdoing the transverse symmetry. As such, it should be generally yielded by the Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H} = (b_x^{\dagger}b_x + \frac{1}{2})\hbar\omega_x + (b_y^{\dagger}b_y + \frac{1}{2})\hbar\omega_y + (b_z^{\dagger}b_z + \frac{1}{2})\hbar\omega_z$  of separable 3D harmonic oscillator, where  $\omega_x$ ,  $\omega_y$ , and  $\omega_z$  are the frequencies of linear oscillations along *x*-, *y*-, and *z*-axes. The separable 3D harmonic oscillator is also called as generalized oscillator, because it can degrade into 3D transversely symmetric harmonic oscillator when  $\omega_x = \omega_y$ . Corresponding to an SU(2) rotation along a fixed axis of the 3D transversely symmetric harmonic oscillator, the general 3D harmonic oscillator can be transformed by transversely symmetric harmonic oscillator via applying SU(2) unitary transformation on ladder operators of transverse oscillators [28, 29]:

$$\begin{bmatrix} b_x^{\dagger} \\ b_y^{\dagger} \\ b_z^{\dagger} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} e^{-i\theta/2}\cos(\varphi/2) & e^{i\theta/2}\sin(\varphi/2) & 0 \\ -e^{-i\theta/2}\sin(\varphi/2) & e^{i\theta/2}\cos(\varphi/2) & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} a_x^{\dagger} \\ a_y^{\dagger} \\ a_z^{\dagger} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(19)

Similarly according to the property of ladder operators, the eigenstates of Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}$  are given by:

$$|\psi_{n,m,l}^{(\theta,\varphi)}\rangle = \frac{(b_x^{\dagger})^n}{\sqrt{n!}} \frac{(b_y^{\dagger})^m}{\sqrt{m!}} \frac{(b_z^{\dagger})^l}{\sqrt{l!}} |0,0,0\rangle,$$
(20)

with eigenfrequency of  $\omega_{n,m,l} = \omega_T + \omega_L$ , where the transverse mode frequency  $\omega_T = (n + 1/2)\omega_x + (m + 1/2)\omega_y$  and longitudinal mode frequency  $\omega_L = (l + 1/2)\omega_z$ . Eigenstates in equation (20) are corresponding to the Hermite–Laguerre–Gaussian (HLG) modes [30, 31] with transverse mode indices of (n, m) and longitudinal mode index of l under Cartesian coordinate representation. Of particular note, when  $\varphi = 0$  or  $\varphi = \pi$ ,  $|\psi_{n,m,l}^{(\theta,\varphi)}\rangle$  are reduced into HG modes; when  $\theta = \varphi = \pi/2$ , LG modes. The evolution of the wavepacket of  $|\psi_{n,m,l}^{(\theta,\varphi)}\rangle$  versus  $\theta$  and  $\varphi$  is shown in figure 5. The two angles also refer to mapping angles on generalized Poincaré sphere (see details in section 7).

In order to obtain the analytical expression of terms of equation (20), we exploit the Wigner *d*-matrix, which is a unitary matrix in an irreducible representation of the SU(2) groups [32]. In terms of the Wigner *d*-matrix, an eigenstate equation (20) of the Hamiltonia  $\mathcal{H}$  can be analytically expressed as a linear combination of a set of eigenstates equation (18) of the Hamiltonia:

$$|\psi_{n,m,l}^{(\theta,\varphi)}\rangle = e^{i\frac{n+m}{2}\theta} \sum_{k=0}^{n+m} e^{ik\theta} d_{k-\frac{n+m}{2},\frac{n-m}{2}}^{\frac{n+m}{2}}(\varphi)|k,n+m-k,l\rangle,$$
(21)

where the elements of Wigner *d*-matrix are given by:

$$d_{k-\frac{n+m}{2},\frac{n-m}{2}}^{\frac{n+m}{2}}(\varphi) = \sqrt{k!(n+m-k)!n!m!} \sum_{\substack{\upsilon=\max(0,k-n)}}^{\min(m,k)} \times \frac{(-1)^{\upsilon}[\cos(\varphi/2)]^{m+k-2\upsilon}[\sin(\varphi/2)]^{n-k+2\upsilon}}{\upsilon!(m-\upsilon)!(k-\upsilon)!(n-k+\upsilon)!}.$$
(22)

Using equations (21) and(22), we can numerically calculate the wave-packet of any mode states of HLG mode.

Hereinbefore, the SU(2) matrix was shown as an effective toolket to describe the transformation for both geometric rays and wave eigenfunctions. In the next section, more complex coherent states exploiting SU(2) symmetry will be introduced to deeper physics of quantum–classical connection and raywave duality of light.

### 3. Rays and waves: from quantum to classical

In this section, a ray-wave duality model for describing a general class of geometric beams is reviewed. Following the the coupled harmonic oscillator model, various HLG eigenmodes can be represented by a general SU(2) transformation, but there are still a large number of structured lights uncovered. Hereinafter, increasingly complex geometric modes with more intriguing properties are demonstrated, as well-defined superpositions of special sets of eigenstates. In which, SU(2) symmetry still play a important role in the generation of various complex quantum coherent state, for representing more intriguing structured light beams with quantum–classical coupled properties.

### 3.1. Schrödinger coherent state

A coherent state is a specific quantum state whose behavior most closely resembles the classical state, where the quantum probability wave-packet can be coupled with classical movement, which is particularly adapted for studying the quantum-to-classical transition [33–35]. According to the definition of coherent state of Schrödinger's original motivation, i.e. Schrödinger coherent state [36, 37], the coherent state under coordinate representation is given by:

$$|\alpha\rangle = e^{-\alpha^* \alpha/2} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha^n}{\sqrt{n!}} |n\rangle e^{-iE_n t/\hbar}.$$
 (23)

Substituting equations (15) and (16) into equation (23) and applying the generating function of Hermite polynomials,  $\exp(2xt - t^2) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} H_n(x)t^n/n!$ , we get:

(a)  $\begin{pmatrix} 0.25 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.1 \\ 0.65 \\ 0.1 \\ 0.1 \\ 0.0 \\ 0.1 \\ 0.0 \\ 0.1 \\ 0.0 \\ 0.1 \\ 0.0 \\ 0.$ 

**Figure 6.** Schrödinger coherent state. (a) Probability wave-packet of eigenstate of 1D linear oscillator (n = 20). (b) Trajectory of the classical movement of 1D linear oscillator and (c) the probability wave-packet of coherent state ( $\alpha = 1, \omega = 1, \delta = 0$ ).

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \xi | \alpha \rangle &= e^{-\frac{|\alpha|^2}{2}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\left( |\alpha| e^{i\delta} \right)^n}{\sqrt{n!}} \frac{H_n(\xi)}{\sqrt{\sqrt{\pi}2^n n!}} e^{-\frac{\xi^2}{2}} e^{-i\left(n+\frac{1}{2}\right)\omega t} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{\sqrt{\pi}}} e^{-\frac{|\alpha|^2 + \xi^2}{2}} e^{-\frac{i\omega t}{2}} e^{-\frac{|\alpha|^2 e^{-i2}(\omega t - \delta)}{2} + \sqrt{2}|\alpha| e^{-i(\omega t - \delta)}\xi}, \end{aligned}$$
(24)

where  $\delta$  is the argument of  $\alpha$ . Then, the probability wavepacket of Schrödinger coherent state can be derived by:

$$\langle \alpha | \alpha \rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} e^{-\xi^2 - 2|\alpha|^2 \cos^2(\omega t - \delta) + 2\sqrt{2}|\alpha|\xi\cos(\omega t - \delta)}$$
$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} e^{-\left[\xi - \sqrt{2}|\alpha|\cos(\omega t - \delta)\right]^2}.$$
(25)

As shown in figure 6, the peak of wave-packet of is along the trajectory of corresponding classical oscillator, i.e.  $\xi = \sqrt{2} |\alpha| \cos (\omega t - \delta)$ , manifesting the quantum–classical coupling. Theoretically, coherent states are always minimize quantum uncertainty, the squeezed states of wave packet with squeezed uncertainty is not included in the discussion of this tutorial.

### 3.2. SU(2) coherent state

In quantum optics, the Hamiltonian for the 3D linear harmonic oscillator is given by equation (17). Here,  $\mathcal{H}_0$  is used to represent the Hamiltonian of conventional transversely symmetric harmonic oscillator, and  $\mathcal{H}$  to represent the generalized Hamiltonian after SU(2) transformation. The generalized Hamiltonian of the SU(2)-coupled oscillator can be expanded as:

$$\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_0 + \sum_j \Omega_j J_j, \tag{26}$$





**Figure 7.** SU(2) coherent state. (a) Probability wave-packet of eigenstate of 1D linear oscillator (n = 20). (b) Trajectory of the classical movement of 1D linear oscillator and (c) the probability wave-packet of coherent state ( $\alpha = 1, \omega = 1, \delta = 0$ ).

where  $\mathcal{H}_0 = (a_x a_x^{\dagger} + a_y a_y^{\dagger} + 1)\hbar\omega_0$  is the Hamiltonian for the 2D isotropic oscillator deciding the transverse wave-packet on (x, y) plane. Figure 7 shows examples for the eigenstate wave-packet, classical trajectory, and coherent wave-packet in this case. The coupling parameters  $\Omega_j$  are assumed to be real constants, and the operators under Schwinger representation reveal the SU(2)-Lie group accommodating two linear oscillators and an angular momentum oscillator [13, 38]:

$$\begin{cases} J_x = \frac{1}{2} \left( a_x^{\dagger} a_y + a_y^{\dagger} a_x \right) \\ J_y = \frac{-i}{2} \left( a_x^{\dagger} a_y - a_y^{\dagger} a_x \right) \\ J_z = \frac{1}{2} \left( a_x^{\dagger} a_x - a_y^{\dagger} a_y \right) \end{cases}$$
(27)

Operators  $J_j$  satisfy the SU(2)-Lie commutator algebra  $[J_i, J_j] = i\varepsilon_{i,j,k}J_k$  ( $\{i, j, k\} = \{1, 2, 3\} = \{x, y, z\}$ ), where the Levi-Civita tensor  $\varepsilon_{i,j,k}$  is equal to +1 and -1 for even and odd permutations of its indices, respectively, and zero otherwise. The Hamiltonian in equation (26) can not only represent a host of entanglement mechanisms [39, 40] but also be associated with astigmatism and aberration in wave optics, relevant in high-order laser pattern formations [28, 41]. For the statistics of quantum number at transverse oscillation, SU(2) coherent state is defined as [18, 19]:

$$|\alpha\rangle = \exp\left(\alpha J_{+} - \alpha^{*} J_{-}\right) |j, -j\rangle, \qquad (28)$$

where  $J_{\pm} = J_x \pm iJ_y$  are the ladder (creation and annihilation) operators of angular momentum, and *j* is a certain integer or half-integer that represents angular-momentum quantum number. Using the disentangling theorem for angular-momentum operators, we can rewrite equation (28) in the following equivalent form [13]:

$$|\tau\rangle = \left(1 + |\tau|^2\right)^{-j} \exp\left(\tau J_+\right) |j, -j\rangle, \qquad (29)$$

where  $\tau$  is an arbitrary complex number. Hereinafter, we express equation (29) into eigenstates representation via unitary transformation. According to Taylor expansion, the exponential operator in equation (29) can be expanded as:

$$\exp(\tau J_{+}) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(\tau J_{+})^{n}}{n!}.$$
 (30)

Substitute equation (30) into equation (29) and apply unitary transformation into angular-momentum representation:

$$\begin{aligned} |\tau\rangle &= \left(1 + |\tau|^{2}\right)^{-j} \sum_{k=-j}^{j} \langle j,k| \exp\left(\tau J_{+}\right) |j,-j\rangle |j,k\rangle \\ &= \left(1 + |\tau|^{2}\right)^{-j} \sum_{k=-j}^{j} \langle j,k| \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(\tau J_{+})^{n}}{n!} |j,-j\rangle |j,k\rangle \\ &= \left(1 + |\tau|^{2}\right)^{-j} \sum_{k=-j}^{j} \langle j,k| \frac{(\tau J_{+})^{j+k}}{(j+k)!} |j,-j\rangle |j,k\rangle. \end{aligned}$$
(31)

According to the property of ladder operators:

$$J_{\pm} |j,k\rangle = \sqrt{j(j+1) - k(k\pm 1)} \hbar |j,k\pm 1\rangle.$$
 (32)

Equation (31) can be rewritten as:

$$|\tau\rangle = \frac{\sum_{k=-j}^{j} \frac{\sum_{i=-j}^{s-1} \sqrt{j(j+1)-i(i+1)}}{(j+k)!} \tau^{j+k} |j,k\rangle}{\left(1+|\tau|^2\right)^j}$$
$$= \left(1+|\tau|^2\right)^{-j} \sum_{k=-j}^{j} \left(\frac{2j}{j+k}\right)^{1/2} \tau^{j+k} |j,k\rangle, \qquad (33)$$

After substituting N = 2j and K = j + k (*N* is a constant integer, *K* is integer yielded  $0 \le K \le N$ ), we get:

$$|\tau\rangle = \left(1 + |\tau|^2\right)^{-N/2} \sum_{K=0}^{N} {\binom{N}{K}}^{1/2} \tau^K |K,N\rangle.$$
 (34)

where the states  $|K,N\rangle$  mean the states with K bosons in the first mode and (N-K) bosons in the second mode, sometimes also noted as  $|K,N-K\rangle$ . In another usually used form,  $\tau$  is rewritten as the normalized argument form  $\tau = e^{i\phi}$ , and equation (34) can be rewritten as the phase state:

$$|\phi\rangle = \frac{1}{2^{N/2}} \sum_{K=0}^{N} {\binom{N}{K}}^{1/2} e^{iK\phi} |K,N\rangle, \qquad (35)$$

where the eigenstates  $|K,N\rangle$  should fulfill the orthogonality  $\langle K,N|L,N\rangle = \delta_{KL}$ , where  $\delta_{i,j}$  is the Kronecker delta, and the completeness  $a_x^{\dagger}a_x|K,N\rangle = K|K,N\rangle$ ,  $a_y^{\dagger}a_y|K,N\rangle = (N-K)|K,N\rangle$ ,  $\sum_{K=0}^{N}|K,N\rangle \langle K,N| = 1$ .



**Figure 8.** Frequency-degenerate spectrum and the ray representation in laser cavity. The frequency-degenerate spectrum  $(f_{n,m,l} - f_{n_0,m_0,l_0})/\Delta f_L$  of the ideal spherical cavity as a function of the normalized cavity length L/R for the range of  $|n - n_0| \le 12$ ,  $|m - m_0| \le 12$ , and  $|l - l_0| \le 12$ , where some degeneracy states  $|\Omega = P/Q\rangle$  are marked at corresponding positions with corresponding schematics of ray representation of SU(2) oscillation.

### 3.3. Frequency-degenerate state

In order to realize SU(2) coherent state in a laser cavity, the eigenstates should be the eigenmodes of the resonator and fulfil the coherent-superposition condition of SU(2) wave-packet [35, 42]. Without loss of generality, we consider a planoconcave cavity with the length of *L*, formed by a gain medium, a concave spherical mirror with the radius of curvature of *R* as the output coupler, and a plane mirror high-reflective for laser. The eigenmodes  $\psi_{n,m,l}$  (*n*, *m* are the indices of transverse mode and *l* is the index of longitudinal mode) and the eigenvalues  $k_{n,m,l}$  for a laser cavity can be solved from the Helmholtz equation:

$$\left(\nabla^2 + k_{n,m,l}^2\right)\psi_{n,m,l}(x,y,z) = 0.$$
 (36)

Under the paraxial approximation, the eigenmodes that are separable in Cartesian coordinate can be expressed as HG modes:

$$\psi_{n,m,l}^{(\mathrm{HG})}(x,y,z) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2^{m+n-1}\pi m!n!}} \frac{1}{w(z)} e^{-\frac{x^2+y^2}{w^2(z)}}$$
$$\times H_n\left[\frac{\sqrt{2}x}{w(z)}\right] H_m\left[\frac{\sqrt{2}y}{w(z)}\right]$$
$$\times e^{ik_{n,m},\tilde{z}-i(m+n+1)\vartheta(z)}, \tag{37}$$

where  $\vartheta(z) = \tan^{-1}(z/z_R)$  is the Gouy phase,  $H_n(\cdot)$  represents the Hermite polynomials of *n*th order,  $k_{n,m,l} = 2\pi f_{n,m,l}/c$ ,  $f_{n,m,l}$  is the eigenmode frequency, *c* is the speed of light,  $\tilde{z} = z + (x^2 + y^2)z/[2(z^2 + z_R^2)]$ ,  $w(z) = w_0\sqrt{1 + (z/z_R)^2}$ ,  $w_0 = \sqrt{(\lambda z_R)/\pi}$  is the beam radius parameter, and  $\lambda$  is the emission wavelength. The eigenmode frequency of resonator is given by [42, 43]:

$$f_{n,m,l} = l\Delta f_L + (n + \frac{1}{2})\Delta f_x + (m + \frac{1}{2})\Delta f_y = [l + (n + m + 1)\Omega]\Delta f_L,$$
(38)

where the longitudinal mode spacing  $\Delta f_L = c/(2L)$ , here the minor disparity between the physical length and the geometric length is neglected. Without consideration of symmetry breaking, the transverse mode spacing should be  $\Delta f_x = \Delta f_y = \Delta f_T = \Delta f_L \vartheta(L) / \pi$ . The mode-spacing ratio  $\Omega = P/Q = (1/\pi) \cos^{-1}(\sqrt{1-L/R})$  reveals the degeneracy, which is varied in the range between 0 and 1/2 by changing the cavity length as 0 < L < R. The frequency difference in the neighborhood of the indices  $(n_0, m_0, l_0)$  is given by  $(f_{n,m,l} - f_{n_0,m_0,l_0})/\Delta f_L$ , which can illustrate the various degeneracy states distribution as topological joints in the fractal spectrum [43]. Figure 8 depicts a diagram of the frequencydegenerate spectrum, where some degeneracy states  $|\Omega|$ P/Q are marked at corresponding positions. In order to fulfill the condition of coherent superposition, the frequency of every decomposed eigenmodes should be a constant, which requires a coupling effect between transverse and longitudinal modes. If the transverse mode at x-axis and longitudinal mode are coupled, i.e. n + m + l = N, we can choose a frequencydegenerate family of HG modes as the complete set of orthogonal bases:

$$\langle x, y, z | K, N \rangle = \psi_{n_0 + QK, m_0, l_0 - PK}^{(\text{HG})}(x, y, z),$$
 (39)

where  $n_0$ ,  $m_0$ , and  $l_0$  are constants with  $n_0 + m_0 + l_0 = N$ , thus the constant frequency should be:

$$f_{n,m,l} = [l_0 - PK + (n_0 + QK + m_0 + 1)\Omega] \Delta f_L$$
  
=  $[l_0 + (n_0 + m_0 + 1)\Omega] \Delta f_L$   
=  $f_{n_0,m_0,l_0},$  (40)

which meets the required form of transverse mode locking [44–47], and the corresponding laser wave-packet of SU(2) coherent state is given by:

$$\Psi_{n_0,m_0}^{N,\Omega,\phi}(x,y,z) = \frac{1}{2^{N/2}} \sum_{K=0}^{N} \binom{N}{K}^{1/2} e^{iK\phi} \\ \times \psi_{n_0+QK,m_0,l_0-PK}^{(\text{HG})}(x,y,z), \qquad (41)$$

sharing the same form of equation (35). Here we have already proved that frequency-degenerate state of laser cavity fulfills the condition for generating a laser wave-packet as SU(2) coherent state.

We can also use Laguerre–Gaussian (LG) modes being separable in circular coordinate as the eigenmodes to generate SU(2) vortex beams:

$$\Phi_{n_0,m_0}^{N,\Omega,\phi}(x,y,z) = \frac{1}{2^{N/2}} \sum_{K=0}^{N} {\binom{N}{K}}^{1/2} e^{iK\phi} \\ \times \varphi_{n_0+QK,m_0,l_0-PK}^{(\mathrm{LG})}(x,y,z), \qquad (42)$$

where the LG modes are given by:

$$\varphi_{n,m,l}^{(\mathrm{LG})}(r,\varphi,z) = \sqrt{\frac{2\rho!}{\pi\left(\rho+|\ell|\right)!}} \frac{1}{w\left(z\right)} \left[\frac{\sqrt{2}r}{w\left(z\right)}\right]^{|\ell|} e^{-\frac{r^2}{w^2(z)}} e^{i\ell\varphi} \times L_{\rho}^{|\ell|} \left[\frac{2r^2}{w^2(z)}\right] e^{ik_{n,m,l}\tilde{z}-i(m+n+1)\vartheta(z)}, \quad (43)$$

where  $\rho = \min(m, n), \ell = \pm (m - n)$ , and  $L_{\rho}^{\ell}(\cdot)$  represents the associated Laguerre polynomial with radial and azimuthal indices of  $\rho$  and  $\ell$ . For  $m_0 = 0$ , figure 10 shows the 3D simulation of SU(2) vortex beams with positive, negative, and superposed OAMs, and the inserts show the topological phases of the SU(2) vortex beams. For  $m_0 \ge 1$ , the SU(2) beams manifest the multi-LG vortex beams [48, 49], where the main OAM at the center is decided by the index  $n_0$  and the sub-OAM carried by sub-LG beams is decided by the index  $m_0$ . To constitute a completed oscillation in cavity, the positive and negative oscillations should be superposed together forming a standing wave mode, the phase state expression of which is  $|\phi\rangle + |2\pi - \phi\rangle$  [35]. Figure 9 shows the ray presentation (a) intensity wave-packet (b)-(d) of intracavity geometric modes versus the coherent state phase. From larger  $n_0$  to smaller one, the wave-packets perform from ray-like cases to wave-like cases. Figure 10 shows the transverse patterns of planar and vortex geometric modes and the topological phase of vortex geometric modes at SU(2) coherent state  $|\Omega = 1/4\rangle |\phi = \pi\rangle$ with parameters as  $z = z_R$ , N = 20, and various  $n_0$  and  $m_0$ . Some cases perform multi-spot shape while some wave fringes unravel the interference among lights on the sub-orbits, which is manifested by the property of ray-wave duality.

There are also other ways to realize frequency degeneracy in order to fulfill the coherent superposition of SU(2) wavepacket. For instance:

$$\langle x, y, z | K, N \rangle = \psi_{n_0 + pK, m_0 + qK, l_0 - PK}^{(\mathrm{HG})}(x, y, z),$$
 (44)

where the integers p and q yield  $p + q = \kappa Q$  ( $\kappa = 1$  selected here, the case of  $\kappa \neq 1$  will be discussed in section 6.1 since it is caused by astigmatism), thus the eigenmodes also constitute a frequency-degenerate family with frequency  $f_{n_0,m_0,l_0}$ . Using



**Figure 9.** Phase states of SU(2) oscillation with ray-wave duality. Intracavity planar SU(2) geometric mode  $|\phi\rangle + |2\pi - \phi\rangle$  oscillating at (x, z)-plane at degenerate state  $|\Omega = 1/4\rangle$ : (a) the ray representations and (b)–(d) intensity wave-packets with  $n_0$  from larger to smaller ( $n_0 = 30, 20, 10$ ) for various  $\phi$ . The patterns of wave representations from (b) to (d) change from the case of more ray-like properties to that of more wave-like properties.

the more general equation (44) as the bases of SU(2) coherent state, we can obtain more exotic structured light beams [28, 43].

### 3.4. Ray-wave duality

Ray-wave duality, as its name implies, describes the effect that a wavepacket behaves matching a prescribed ray families [50, 51]. In this section, it is demonstrated that the ray-wave duality is also the salient property of the geometric mode in degenerate cavity. When an optical resonator is operating close to a frequency-degenerate state, its laser mode and intensity would undergo dramatic changes with the principle that laser modes have a preference to be localized on the periodic ray trajectories under selective gain control, which was called the ray-wave duality or ray-wave correspondence [35, 42, 52, 53]. Like the Schrödinger coherent state coupled with the trajectory of classical oscillator, the SU(2) coherent state can also be coupled with the periodic oscillating trajectories in frequency-degenerate cavity, interpreting the ray-wave duality mode.

Based on geometrical optics, the ABCD matrix is used to characterize the propagation property of the optical ray trajectories inside a stable plano-concave cavity [54–56]. Since the cavity length satisfies  $L/R = \sin^2(\Omega \pi)$  under degeneracy state  $|\Omega = P/Q\rangle$ , the corresponding ABCD matrix of the frequencydegenerate cavity is given by:

$$\mathbf{A} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 - \frac{2L}{R} & 2L\left(1 - \frac{L}{R}\right) \\ -\frac{2}{R} & 1 - \frac{2L}{R} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \cos\left(2\Omega\pi\right) & \frac{R}{2}\sin^{2}\left(2\Omega\pi\right) \\ -\frac{2}{R} & \cos\left(2\Omega\pi\right) \end{bmatrix}.$$
(45)



**Figure 10.** Planar and vortex SU(2) geometric modes. The theoretical intensity transverse patterns of planar and vortex geometric modes and the topological phase of vortex geometric modes at SU(2) coherent state  $|\Omega = 1/4\rangle |\phi = \pi\rangle$  with parameters as  $z = z_R$ , M = 20, and various  $n_0$  and  $m_0$ .

After *n* times of round trips in the frequency-degenerate cavity, the matrix is derived as:

$$\mathbf{A}^{n} = \begin{bmatrix} \cos\left(2n\Omega\pi\right) & \frac{R}{2}\sin^{2}\left(2n\Omega\pi\right) \\ -\frac{2}{R}\frac{\sin\left(2n\Omega\pi\right)}{\sin\left(2\Omega\pi\right)} & \cos\left(2n\Omega\pi\right) \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (46)

Because  $Q\Omega = P$  is an integer, we have  $\cos(2Q\Omega\pi) = 1$ ,  $\sin(2Q\Omega\pi) = 0$ , and *Q*th power of **A** is an unit matrix:

$$\mathbf{A}^{Q} = \begin{bmatrix} \cos\left(2Q\Omega\pi\right) & \frac{R}{2}\sin^{2}\left(2Q\Omega\pi\right) \\ -\frac{2}{R}\frac{\sin\left(2Q\Omega\pi\right)}{\sin\left(2\Omega\pi\right)} & \cos\left(2Q\Omega\pi\right) \end{bmatrix} = \mathbf{I}.$$
 (47)

Equation (47) reveals that an optical ray oscillating at an arbitrary position within the cavity would coincide exactly with the initial state after Q times of round trips. Therefore, it is proved that the lasing modes have a preference to be localized on the periodic ray trajectories in a frequency-degenerate cavity. The schematics of classical oscillating trajectories at various states  $|\Omega = P/Q\rangle$  are shown in figure 8. Manifested by the ray matrix, the parametric equation for each periodic orbit in SU(2) oscillation can be derived [57]. For the planar geometric modes, the orbits can be derived as:

$$x_{s}^{\pm}(z) = \sqrt{Nw_{0}} \left[ \cos\left(\theta_{s} + \phi_{x}\right) \mp \left(z/z_{R}\right) \sin\left(\theta_{s} + \phi_{x}\right) \right]$$
$$= \sqrt{Nw(z)} \cos\left[\theta_{s} + \phi_{x} \pm \vartheta(z)\right], \tag{48}$$

where  $\theta_s = (P/Q)2\pi s, s = 0, 1, 2, ..., Q-1$  is the running index for the different rays,  $\phi_x$  is the phase factor related to the initial position and direction, and + and - in the symbol of ± indicate the backward and forward rays, respectively. Defining the dimensionless variable  $\tilde{x} = \sqrt{2}x/w(z)$ , the expression for the ray equation can be expressed as  $\tilde{x}(z) = \text{Re}[\sqrt{2}u_s^{\pm}(z)]$ with:

$$u_s^{\pm}(z) = \sqrt{N}e^{-i[\theta_s + \phi_x \pm \vartheta(z)]},\tag{49}$$

when  $\phi_x = n\pi/Q$  ( $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ ), the forward and backward rays would be coincidently overlapped, and the bouncing orbits with positive and negative transverse directions share the same location. In this case, the trajectories in frequency-degenerate cavities at various degenerate states  $|\Omega = P/Q\rangle$  are depicted in figure 8. For the general spatial geometric mode, the ray equations for the 3D periodic orbits can be written as:

$$\begin{cases} u_s^{\pm}(z) = \sqrt{N_x} e^{-i[\theta_s + \phi_x \pm \vartheta(z)]} \\ \nu_s^{\pm}(z) = \sqrt{N_y} e^{-i[\theta_s + \phi_y \pm \vartheta(z)]}, \end{cases}$$
(50)

where the dimensionless variable in the *y*-direction is similarly defined as  $\tilde{y} = \sqrt{2}y/w(z)$  with the ray equation  $\tilde{y}(z) = \text{Re}[\sqrt{2}v_s^{\pm}(z)]$ . Here + and – in the symbol of  $\pm$  indicate the positive and negative OAM states  $|\pm \ell\rangle$ , they together constitute a completed oscillation in cavity. For constituting a completed oscillation with both OAM states in a cavity, the phase factors yield  $|\phi_x - \phi_y| = \pi/2$ .

The above is the ray representation of geometric modes in frequency-degenerate cavity. Hereinafter, we derive the wave representation coupled with the geometric modes and prove that it fulfills the SU(2) coherent state. In terms of Schrödinger coherent state, the Gaussian wave packet with the central peak moving along the path  $x = \text{Re}(\sqrt{2u}) = \sqrt{2N}\cos(\omega t + \varphi_0)$  can be derived as [57]:

$$\pi^{-1/4} e^{-x^2/2} F(x, u) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n \psi_n(x) e^{-in(\omega t + \varphi_0)}, \qquad (51)$$

where coefficients  $a_n = N^{n/2}e^{-N/2}/\sqrt{n!} = \sqrt{P(n,N)}$ , where P(n,N) is the Poisson distribution,  $F(x,u) = e^{-(u^2+|u|^2-2\sqrt{2}ux)/2}$  is the wavefunction of Schrödinger coherent state and  $\psi_n(x) = (2^n n!)^{-1/2} \pi^{-1/4} H_n(x) e^{-x^2/2}$  is the HG function. The wave representation of a Gaussian wave packet moving along the *s*th ray, equation (50), in a spatial geometric mode can be given by [57]:

$$\Phi(\mathbf{r}, u_s^{\pm}, \nu_s^{\pm}) = G(\mathbf{r}) F(\tilde{x}, u_s^{\pm}) F(\tilde{y}, \nu_s^{\pm}).$$
(52)

where  $G(\mathbf{r}) = \pi^{-1/2} e^{-(\tilde{x}^2 + \tilde{y}^2)(1+i\tilde{z})/2} e^{\pm i\vartheta(\tilde{z})}$  represents the fundamental mode Gaussian beam and  $\mathbf{r} = (x, y, z)$  the Cartesian coordinates. In terms of equation (52), the resonant

mode for the forward and backward components of a complete period is given by [57]:

$$\Psi_{N_x,N_y}^{\pm}(\mathbf{r}) = \frac{1}{Q} \sum_{s=0}^{Q-1} \Phi\left(\mathbf{r}, u_s^{\pm}, \nu_s^{\pm}\right) e^{i(N_x + N_y)\theta_s}, \qquad (53)$$

where the phase term  $e^{i(N_x+N_y)\theta_s}$  is associated with the transverse frequency. For  $N_x = 0$  or  $N_y = 0$ , equation (53) represents the planar geometric modes with ray structure on (x, z) or (y, z) plane; for  $N_x = N_y \neq 0$ , circular vortex geometric modes; for  $N_x \neq N_y$  and  $N_x$  and  $N_y$  are nonzero, elliptical vortex geometric modes. In the above description,  $N_x$  or  $N_{\rm v}$  should be large enough to stimulate more ray-like properties, otherwise the pattern will be nearly a certain eigenmode. Hereinafter, we demonstrate the wave representation fulfills the form of SU(2) coherent state. Using planar trajectory  $(N_v = 0)$  for convenience, it can be obtained that  $\nu_s^{\pm} =$ 0 and  $F(\tilde{y}, 0) = 1$ , and the planar geometric mode is given by:

$$\Psi_{N_x}^{\pm}(\mathbf{r}) = \frac{1}{Q} \sum_{s=0}^{Q-1} G(\mathbf{r}) F\left(\tilde{x}, u_s^{\pm}\right) e^{iN\theta_s},$$
(54)

Substituting equation (51) into equation (54) and ignoring the constant coefficient, we get:

$$\Psi_{N_{x}}^{\pm}(\mathbf{r}) \propto \sum_{s=0}^{Q-1} G(\mathbf{r}) e^{\frac{\tilde{x}^{2}}{2}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_{n} \psi_{n}(\tilde{x}) e^{-in[\theta_{s}+\phi_{x}\pm\vartheta(z)]} e^{iN\theta_{s}}$$

$$= \sum_{s=0}^{Q-1} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_{n} \psi_{n}(\tilde{x}) e^{\frac{\tilde{x}^{2}}{2}} G(\mathbf{r}) e^{\mp in\vartheta(z)-in(\theta_{s}+\phi_{x})+iN\theta_{s}}$$

$$\propto \sum_{s=0}^{Q-1} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_{n} \psi_{n,0,l}^{(\mathrm{HG})}(x,y,\pm z) e^{-in\phi_{x}} e^{i(N-n)\theta_{s}}$$

$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_{n} \psi_{n,0,l}^{(\mathrm{HG})}(x,y,\pm z) e^{-in\phi_{x}} \sum_{s=0}^{Q-1} e^{i(N-n)\theta_{s}}, \quad (55)$$

where the indices of HG modes should also fulfill the frequency-degenerate condition. Setting n' = N - n, the last term in the external summation notation of equation (55) can be written as:

$$\sum_{s=0}^{Q-1} e^{in'\theta_s} = \sum_{s=0}^{Q-1} e^{in'\frac{p}{Q}2\pi s}.$$
 (56)

When n' = KQ  $(K \in \mathbb{Z})$ ,  $e^{in'\frac{P}{Q}2\pi s} = e^{i2\pi KPs} = 1$  and equation (56) is equal to a constant Q; when  $n' \neq KQ$ , equation (56) is always a sum of the complex numbers uniformly distributed on the unit circle of the complex plane, thus it should be zero. And then, we use the Dirac notation to represent the spatial mode, and note the set of frequency-degenerate HG modes with number of M as  $|K,M\rangle = |\psi_{n_0+KQ,0,l_0-KP}^{(\text{HG})}\rangle$ , equation (55) can thus be simplified as:

$$\left< \frac{(HG)}{n_0 + KQ, 0, l_0 - KP} \right>$$

Y Shen

$$\begin{split} \left|\Psi_{N_{x}}^{\pm}(\mathbf{r})\right\rangle &\propto \sum_{K=0}^{N} a_{n_{0}+KQ} e^{-iKQ\phi_{x}} \left|\psi_{n_{0}+KQ,0,l_{0}-KP}^{(HG)}\right\rangle \\ &= \sum_{K=0}^{N} \sqrt{P(n_{0}+KQ,N)} e^{-iKQ\phi_{x}} |K,N\rangle \\ &\propto \sum_{K=0}^{N} \sqrt{B(K;N,\frac{1}{2})} e^{-iKQ\phi_{x}} |K,N\rangle \\ &= \frac{1}{2^{N/2}} \sum_{K=0}^{N} \binom{N}{K}^{1/2} e^{iK\phi} |K,N\rangle, \end{split}$$
(57)

where the coherent state phase  $\phi = Q\phi_x$ , and the Poisson distribution  $P(n_0 + KQ, N)$  is approximated by Binomial distribution B(K; N, 1/2) when  $N = 4Q^2 n_0$  is large enough, where  $B(k;n,p) = \binom{n}{k} p^k (1-p)^{n-k}$  is Binomial distribution, according to the central-limit theorem. Then the laser mode equation (57) shares the same form of SU(2) coherent state as equation (35).

Therefore, the SU(2) wave-packet in frequency-degenerate cavity has the property of ray-wave duality, the laser mode can be not only characterized by the wave function representation but also coupled with classical oscillating trajectory given by ray representation. The preponderance of wave-like or ray-like property can be actually controlled by the parameters in SU(2)wave-packet. It is also worth to note that the ray-wave duality effect discussed above originates from laser cavity optomechanism, it is also available to study the ray-wave duality in general freespace electromagnetic fields [50, 58, 59], which should have more flexible applicability beyond the limit of laser cavity condition.

### 4. Higher-order geometric patterns of light

Based on the theoretical bases introduced in last section, the structured light wave-packet of SU(2) coherent state can be written as the ket formation:

$$|\psi_{n,m,l}^{N,P,p,q}\rangle = \frac{1}{2^{N/2}} \sum_{K=0}^{N} {\binom{N}{K}}^{1/2} e^{iK\phi} |\psi_{n+pK,m+qK,l-PK}\rangle, \quad (58)$$

As a salient property of ray-wave duality, the probability wave packet is coupled with the classical movement. Therefore, the wave-packet of the SU(2) coherent state should be located on the corresponding SU(2) geometric trajectory. The trajectory of classical movement of the SU(2) coupled oscillator is yielded by [28]:

$$\begin{bmatrix} x_b \\ y_b \\ z_b \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} e^{-i\theta/2}\cos(\varphi/2) & e^{i\theta/2}\sin(\varphi/2) & 0 \\ -e^{-i\theta/2}\sin(\varphi/2) & e^{i\theta/2}\cos(\varphi/2) & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_a \\ y_a \\ z_a \end{bmatrix},$$
(59)

.0 /0

where  $(x_a, y_a, z_a)$  represents the 3D classical trajectory of the oscillator corresponding to Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}_0$ . This SU(2) transformation of classical trajectory equation (59) is coupled with that of operator transformation equation (19), and the coherent state wave-packet of Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}$  should be located along

- -



**Figure 11.** The first column shows the Lissajous-to-trochoidal parametric surface modes, the second column multi-axis HLG modes, the third column planar-to-vortex multi-path geometric modes, and the fourth column eigenstate modes. The first to third rows are corresponding to three different SU(2) angular parameters of  $(\varphi, \theta) = (\pi/2, \pi/2), (\pi/2, \pi/4), \text{ and } (\pi/2, 0).$ 

the trajectory of  $(x_b, y_b, z_b)$ , namely the property of quantum– classical connection. The analytical expression of  $(x_a, y_a, z_a)$ can be solved by [60, 61]:

$$\begin{cases} x_{a,k}^{\pm} = \sqrt{N_x} w(z) \cos\left[2\pi k \frac{\omega_x}{\omega_z} + \phi_x \pm \vartheta(z)\right] \\ y_{a,k}^{\pm} = \sqrt{N_y} w(z) \cos\left[2\pi k \frac{\omega_y}{\omega_z} + \phi_y \pm \vartheta(z)\right], \\ z_{a,k}^{\pm} = z \end{cases}$$
(60)

where the integer k = 0, 1, 2, ... is the running index for the cluster of rays,  $(N_x, N_y)$  and  $(\phi_x, \phi_y)$  are the intensities and initial phases of oscillator components at *x*- and *y*-axis,  $w(z) = w_0\sqrt{1 + (z/z_R)}$  is Gaussian beam waist parameter, and  $\vartheta(z) = \tan^{-1}(z/z_R)$  is Gouy phase where  $z_R$  is Rayleigh range.  $N_x$  and  $N_y$  are positively correlated with *n* and *m*, and  $\phi_x - \phi_y$  is related to  $\phi$  in coherent state.

Hereinafter we demonstrate how a higher-order geometric mode is reduced into a HLG eigenmode. The relationship is demonstrated in the first row of figure 11. The selected modes on the poles are shown in the second row of figure 11, that on the interposed regions between the poles and the equator the third row of figure 11, and that on the equators the fourth row of figure 11. Using SU(2) transformation, the modes together with the corresponding classical trajectories in the first row can be transformed into that in the second and third row, vice versa.

### 4.1. Lissajous-to-trochoidal parametric surface mode

For a general case that the ratio of transverse and longitudinal frequency spacings can be expressed as  $\omega_0/\omega_z = P/Q$  where (P,Q) is a pair of coprime integers, the ratios of  $\omega_x/\omega_z$  and  $\omega_y/\omega_z$  are two rational numbers that can be expressed by:

$$\frac{\omega_x}{\omega_z} = \frac{\omega_0 - \Delta\omega_x}{\omega_z} = \frac{\omega_0}{\omega_z} \left( 1 - \frac{q\Delta\omega}{\omega_0} \right) = \frac{P}{Q} \left( 1 - \frac{qM_1}{M_2} \right),\tag{61}$$

$$\frac{\omega_y}{\omega_z} = \frac{\omega_0 + \Delta\omega_y}{\omega_z} = \frac{\omega_0}{\omega_z} \left( 1 + \frac{p\Delta\omega}{\omega_0} \right) = \frac{P}{Q} \left( 1 + \frac{pM_1}{M_2} \right),$$
(62)

where  $(M_1, M_2)$  is a pair of coprime integers satisfying  $\Delta \omega / \omega_0 = M_1 / M_2$ , the classical trajectory equation (60) is reduced into a ray cluster with limited rays [60, 61]:

$$\begin{cases} x_{a,k}^{\pm} = \sqrt{N_x} w(z) \cos\left[2\pi k \frac{P}{Q} \left(1 - \frac{qM_1}{M_2}\right) + \phi_x \pm \vartheta(z)\right] \\ y_{a,k}^{\pm} = \sqrt{N_y} w(z) \cos\left[2\pi k \frac{P}{Q} \left(1 + \frac{pM_1}{M_2}\right) + \phi_y \pm \vartheta(z)\right], \\ z_{a,k}^{\pm} = z \end{cases}$$
(63)

which is a ray cluster with  $QM_2$  rays, where the meaningful range of k should be  $k = 0, 1, 2, \dots, QM_2 - 1$ , because Q is the overlapping period for the running of k, P = 1 selected commonly. The representation for SU(2) geometric beams needs to be discussed in frame of Schrödinger coherent state, which could be referred in [57]. The trajectory  $(x_{a,k}^{\pm}, y_{a,k}^{\pm}, z_{a,k}^{\pm})$ represents a ray cluster including  $QM_2$  rays uniformly distributed on a Lissajous parametric surface, which is also a kind of ruled surface. At a certain transverse plane, the transverse pattern of the ray cluster illustrates multiple dots uniformly distributed on a certain Lissajous curve. The corresponding general ray cluster  $(x_{b,k}^{\pm}, y_{b,k}^{\pm}, z_{b,k}^{\pm})$  after SU(2) transformation includes the  $QM_2$  rays uniformly distributed on a trochoidal parametric surface. At a certain transverse plane, the transverse pattern illustrates the structure of multiple dots distributed on a certain trochoid (at the poles of PS), or a Lissajous curve (at the equator of PS), or the topological curve interposed between Lissajous curve and trochoid. The corresponding coherent state equation (58) generally harnesses the wave-packet located on the 3D Lissajous-to-trochoidal parametric surface (trochoidal parametric surface at the poles of PS and Lissajous parametric surface at the equator of PS). The SU(2) PS and some represented Lissajous-to-trochoidal parametric surface modes with corresponding classical trajectories are shown in the first column of figure 11.

### 4.2. Multi-axis Hermite-Laguerre-Gaussian mode

For a special case of  $\Delta \omega_x = 0$ , i.e. q = 0, we can get  $\omega_x/\omega_z = \omega_0/\omega_z = P/Q$ , also get  $p\omega_0 + s\omega_z = 0$  based on the frequencydegenerate condition, then it can be deduced that p = Q, q = 0, and s = -P here, thus  $\omega_y/\omega_z = P/Q(1 + QM_1/M_2)$  and the classical trajectory equation (63) is reduced into:

$$\begin{cases} x_{a,k}^{\pm} = \sqrt{N_x} w(z) \cos\left[2\pi k \frac{P}{Q} + \phi_x \pm \vartheta(z)\right] \\ y_{a,k}^{\pm} = \sqrt{N_y} w(z) \cos\left[2\pi k \frac{P}{Q} \left(1 + \frac{QM_1}{M_2}\right) + \phi_y \pm \vartheta(z)\right], \\ z_{a,k}^{\pm} = z \end{cases}$$
(64)

which is a spatial ray cluster with  $QM_2$  rays, but the dots distribution is no longer along a Lissajous curve but reduced

to compose multiple linear oscillation orbits in a certain transverse plane. The general SU(2) trajectory  $(x_{b,k}^{\pm}, y_{b,k}^{\pm}, z_{b,k}^{\pm})$  shows multip-axis elliptical orbits distributed on subset uniparted hyperboloid ruled surfaces, where the axes are located on a main uniparted hyperboloid ruled surface, composing a SU(2) symmetric structure. The corresponding coherent state wave-packet equation (58) is reduced into:

$$|\psi_{n,m,l}^{N,P,Q}\rangle = \frac{1}{2^{N/2}} \sum_{K=0}^{N} \binom{N}{K}^{1/2} e^{iK\phi} |\psi_{n+QK,m,l-PK}\rangle, \quad (65)$$

which refers to multi-axis vortex beams, also named as multiaxis HLG modes. The subset multiple HLG modes propagating along the Q axes uniformly distributed on the main uniparted hyperboloid ruled surface. Specially, the topological charge of a HLG sub-mode vortex is equal to m in the multiaxis HLG mode, the center topological charge of the main vortex is equal to n, and that for the partial phase singularities is QN. The SU(2) PS and some represented multi-axis HLG modes with corresponding classical trajectories are shown in the second column of figure 11.

### 4.3. Planar-to-vortex multi-path geometric mode

For an even special case of  $\Delta \omega_x = 0$  and  $\omega_y = 0$ , naturally  $\omega_0 = \omega_x$ ,  $N_y = m = q = \Delta \omega = M_1 = 0$ , and  $\omega_x/\omega_z = \omega_0/\omega_z = P/Q$ , the classical trajectory equation (64) is further reduced as:

$$\begin{cases} x_{a,k}^{\pm} = \sqrt{N_x} w(z) \cos\left[2\pi k \frac{P}{Q} + \phi_x \pm \vartheta(z)\right] \\ y_{a,k}^{\pm} = 0 \\ z_{a,k}^{\pm} = z \end{cases}, \quad (66)$$

where the meaningful range of *k* should be k = 0, 1, 2, ..., Q - 1, which is cluster of *Q* rays in a planar hyperbola region. The corresponding general trajectory  $(x_{b,k}^{\pm}, y_{b,k}^{\pm}, z_{b,k}^{\pm})$  after SU(2) transformation is actually the *Q* rays uniformly distributed on a unparted hyperboloid ruled surface. At a certain transverse plane, the pattern illustrates multiple dots uniformly distributed on a ellipse orbit. The corresponding coherent state wavepacket is reduced from equation (65) into:

$$|\psi_{n,0,l}^{N,P,Q}\rangle = \frac{1}{2^{N/2}} \sum_{K=0}^{N} \binom{N}{K}^{1/2} e^{iK\phi} |\psi_{n+QK,0,l-PK}\rangle, \quad (67)$$

which harnesses a multi-path geometric mode with the Q paths uniformly distributed on the main uniparted hyperboloid ruled surface, which can be obtained by replacing the sub-HLG beams in the multi-axis HLG mode into fundamental Gaussian beams. With the SU(2) transformation, the planar multi-path geometric mode is transformed into vortex multi-path geometric mode. Specially, the topological charge of the center vortex is equal to n, and that for the partial phase singularities is QN. The SU(2) PS and some represented planar-to-vortex multipath geometric modes with corresponding classical trajectories are shown in the third column of figure 11.

#### 4.4. From coherent state to eigenstate

For a even further special case when  $Q \rightarrow \infty$ , the ratio of  $\omega_0/\omega_z$  is approaching a irrational number. There would be infinity classical rays in trajectory equation (66) covering the whole inside region of a hyperbola, and the corresponding coherent state is reduced into an eigenstate HG mode. After the SU(2) transformation, the rays in trajectory  $(x_{b,k}^{\pm}, y_{b,k}^{\pm}, z_{b,k}^{\pm})$ would cover the whole surface of an uniparted hyperboloid, and the corresponding coherent state is reduced into an eigenstate HLG or LG vortex mode ( $\theta = \varphi = \pm \pi/2$ ). This process subtly reveals the nature of photons traveling along straight lines in the formation of various basic vortex modes. The OAM PS and some represented HLG modes with corresponding classical trajectories are shown in the fourth column of figure 11. It is also a condition of N = 0 that the coherent state is naturally reduced into an eigenstate, where there is only one component state in the coherent state wave-packet.

### 5. Hybrid-order and vectorial structured light

In contrast to conventional beams, a geometric mode opens new DoFs to describe its structures taking advantage of the ray-wave duality, such as ray numbers, frequency-degenerate ratios, and coherent phase. In this section, the further generalized models for geometric light are discussed, opening even more DoFs to tailor geometry of light.

#### 5.1. Hybrid-order SU(2) geometric mode

Any SU(2) geometric beam discussed in prior section is coupled with a periodic ray trajectory. Is it possible to exist generalized cases of geometric modes that can be coupled with multiple ray trajectories? Recent works demonstrate that two and more SU(2) geometric mode sharing a coincident projection at the highly reflective mirror plane can coexist in a single cavity [62]. Such modes, namely hybrid-order SU(2) geometric modes, can be generated by forcing the laser to oscillate on two different trajectories with orthogonal transverse orders and coherent-state phases simultaneously, each one has a different transverse orders  $N_i$  (i = 1, 2) in equation (41). A hybrid SU(2) geometric mode with two components can be described as:

$$|\psi\rangle = |\psi_1\rangle + |\psi_2\rangle = |\Omega\rangle |N_1\rangle |\phi\rangle + |\Omega\rangle |N_2\rangle |\phi + \pi\rangle, \quad (68)$$

where  $|\Omega\rangle$  represents the degenerate state,  $\phi$  is coherent-state phase and  $|\psi\rangle$  represents phase state, the trajectory shape is determined by  $\Omega$  and  $\phi$ , the trajectory scale is determined by transverse orders  $N_i$ , the lager  $N_i$  corresponds to the outer trajectory and the smaller one corresponds to the inner trajectory,  $|\Omega\rangle |N_i\rangle |\phi\rangle$  represents a SU(2) geometric mode with parameters  $(\Omega, N_i, \phi$  determined by equation (58), such compact notations reveals multi-DoFs entanglement. To fulfill the coincident project condition, transverse orders N, which is directly proportional to pump off-axis displacement, and satisfies a mathematical relation to ensure at least one shared coincident projection points as [62]:

$$\eta = \frac{N_1}{N_2} = \frac{\cos^2(2\pi/Q)}{\cos^2(\pi/Q)}.$$
(69)

When solving this equation, we need to first consider the value of integer Q. The lowest possible Q is 5, because no shared coincident projection can be found for  $Q \leq 4$ . For Q = 6, there is also a simple solution, that is depicted in figures 12(a) and (b). For higher values of Q, things become complex, we can divide the possible situation into 4 cases. Figure 13 shows the trajectory combination cases for Q = 7, Q = 8, Q = 9, and Q = 10, respectively. Importantly, in contrast to pure SU(2) geometric modes, the hybrid geometric mode opens new DoF to distinguish geometry of light—the combinatorial number C, which refers to how many cases of available superpositions of hybrid ray trajectories:

- $Q \equiv 0 \pmod{4}$  The number of inflection points is n-2for  $|\phi = 0\rangle$  (chiral, non-axisymmetrical) and n for  $|\phi = \pi\rangle$ (achiral, axisymmetrical), respectively. For half-plane (x > 0), it is  $n_1 - 1$  for  $|\phi = 0\rangle$  and  $n_1$  for  $|\phi = \pi\rangle$  so that the combinatorial number is  $C = n_1(n_1 - 1)$ .
- $Q \equiv 1 \pmod{4}$  The number of inflection points is *n* for both  $|\phi = 0\rangle$  and  $|\phi = \pi\rangle$ . For half-plane (x > 0), it is  $n_1$  for both  $|\phi = 0\rangle$  and  $|\phi = \pi\rangle$  so that the combinatorial number is  $C = n_1^2$ .
- $Q \equiv 2 \pmod{4}$  The number of inflection points is n-1 for both  $|\phi = 0\rangle$  and  $|\phi = \pi\rangle$ . For half-plane (x > 0), it is  $n_1$  for both  $|\phi = 0\rangle$  and  $|\phi = \pi\rangle$  so that the combinatorial number is  $C = n_1^2$ .
- $Q \equiv 3 \pmod{4}$  The number of inflection points is *n* for both $|\phi = 0\rangle$  and  $|\phi = \pi\rangle$ , respectively. For half-plane (*x* > 0), it is  $n_1$  for  $|\phi = 0\rangle$  and  $n_1 + 1$  for  $|\phi = \pi\rangle$  so that the combinatorial number is  $C = n_1(n_1 + 1)$ .

For a hybrid trajectory with same parameters of  $\Omega$ ,  $N_i$ , and  $\phi$ , the geometry can still be diverse with different value of C. Similar to pure SU(2) geometric modes, the hybrid SU(2) geometric modes can also be converted into vortex geometric modes carrying OAM with astigmatic converter outside the cavity, see example in figures 12(c) and (d). Unlike planar SU(2) geometric modes, the evolution of phase state $|\phi\rangle$  for vortex geometric modes just corresponds to the axial rotation (also the rotation of auxiliary circle) of  $\phi/Q$  according to SU(2) rotational symmetry. As a result, the two eigenstate components do not intersect like planar modes. However, on any lateral propagation plane forms the equilateral star shapes, where the angle difference between inner and outer shape is  $\pi/Q$ .

### 5.2. Hybrid-order SU(2) vector beam

According to the principle of hybrid trajectory in last section, the general representation of hybrid SU(2) geometric vector mode can be given by introducing polarization as another DoF:

$$|\psi\rangle = |\psi_1\rangle + |\psi_2\rangle = |\Omega\rangle|N\rangle|\phi\rangle|H\rangle + |\Omega\rangle|\eta N\rangle|\phi + \pi\rangle|V\rangle,$$
(70)

where transverse order states  $|N\rangle$  and  $|\eta N\rangle$  of the two components fulfill the condition for sharing a coincident projection of



**Figure 12.** Generation of hybrid SU(2) geometric modes. Example of  $\Omega = 1/6$  (a) intra-cavity classical trajectory with (b) corresponding auxiliary circles. (c) Planer mode wave-packet and (d) vertex mode (*x*-*y* cross-section) Auxiliary circle describes the parametric function of the planer trajectory in equation (64).



**Figure 13.** Complicated hybrid SU(2) geometric modes with multiple trajectory-combination numbers and multi-trajectory superposition. The solutions are represented in auxiliary circle form.

inflection points, which are also corresponding to the OAM state  $|\ell\rangle$  and  $|\eta\ell\rangle$ ; phase states  $|\phi\rangle$  and  $|\phi + \pi\rangle$  manifest that the two components have opposite classical trajectories; the horizontal and vertical linear polarized states  $|H\rangle$  and  $|V\rangle$  can be replaced by other pairs of orthogonal polarized states. In terms of the theories of ray-wave duality, the analytical expression for the hybrid SU(2) VBs can be given by:

$$\Psi_{N_x,N_y}^{\pm}(\mathbf{r}) = \frac{1}{2Q} \left[ \mathbf{J}_1 \Psi_{N_x,N_y}^{\pm,\phi}(\mathbf{r}) + \mathbf{J}_2 \Psi_{\eta N_x,\eta N_y}^{\pm,\phi+\pi}(\mathbf{r}) \right], \quad (71)$$

where  $J_1$  and  $J_2$  are the Jones vectors representing two orthogonal polarizations. For  $N_x$  or  $N_y = 0$ , equation (71) represents the planar hybrid SU(2) VBs with geometric structure on the (x, z) or (y, z) plane; for  $N_x = N_y \neq 0$ , the OAM hybrid SU(2) vector vortex beams; for  $0 \neq N_x \neq N_y \neq 0$ , the general elliptical hybrid SU(2) vector vortex beams. When an SU(2) vector beam is controlled into ray-like state with large enough  $N_x$  and  $N_y$  without interference among light on sub-orbits, the wavefunction along different orbits are independent for calculating the intensity:

$$\left\|\Psi_{N_{x},N_{y}}^{\pm}(\mathbf{r})\right\|^{2} = \frac{1}{4Q^{2}} \left[\left|\Psi_{N_{x},N_{y}}^{\pm,\phi}(\mathbf{r})\right|^{2} + \left|\Psi_{\eta N_{x},\eta N_{y}}^{\pm,\phi+\pi}(\mathbf{r})\right|^{2}\right].$$
(72)

where  $\|\Psi\|$  is the Frobenius norm of vector  $\Psi$ .

In contrast to the scalar hybrid-order geometric beams, the hybrid vector beams can have more interesting vectorial properties, different intensity patterns can be obtained after projection to different polarization state, as shown in figures 14(a) and (b). A scalar hybrid beam always show the star shape pattern (figure 14(a1)), while a vector hybrid beam can show both star shape and polygonal shape under different polarization projections (figure 14(b1)). Moreover, the hybrid-order scalar beams and vector beams have very different topological phase. For the scalar hybrid beam, its phase difference of two orthogonal polarized components shows a multi-singularity vortex pattern (figure 14(a2)), while the vector hybrid beam shows the phase distribution of a multi-singularity flower pattern (figure 14(b2)).

### 5.3. General SU(2) vector beams

Using general digital modulation technique onto geometric beams, a normal SU(2) geometric beam can be modulated as a general SU(2) vector beam, where arbitrary amplitude, phase, and polarization for each orbit can be modulated. By modifying equation (53), a general SU(2) vector beam can be given by:

$$\Psi_{N_x,N_y}^{\pm}(\mathbf{r}) = \sum_{s=0}^{Q-1} A_s e^{i\phi_s} \mathbf{J}_s \Phi_{N_x,N_y}^{(s)}(\mathbf{r}), \qquad (73)$$



Y Shen

**Figure 14.** Experimental results of Intensity patterns, vectorial properties (left), and theoretical phase distributions (right) of various kinds of general SU(2) vector beams: (a)  $(|\ell_1\rangle|0\rangle + |\ell_2\rangle|\pi\rangle|V\rangle$ , (b)  $|\ell_1\rangle|0\rangle|H\rangle + |\ell_2\rangle|\pi\rangle|V\rangle$ , (c)  $|\ell_1\rangle|0\rangle|R\rangle + |\ell_2\rangle|\pi\rangle|V\rangle$ , and (d)  $|\ell_1\rangle|0\rangle|R\rangle + |\ell_2\rangle|\pi\rangle|H\rangle$ .

where we set  $\Phi_{N_x,N_y}^{(s)} = \Phi(\mathbf{r}, u_s^{\pm}, \nu_s^{\pm}) e^{i(N_x+N_y)\theta_s}$  for convenience;  $A_s, \phi_s$ , and  $\mathbf{J}_s$  are the amplitude, phase, and polarization Jones vector of light at the *s*th orbit.

When an SU(2) vector beam was controlled into ray-like state with large enough  $N_x$  and  $N_y$  without interference among lights on sub-orbits, the wavefunction along different orbits are independent without interference to each other. Thus, intensity pattern can be simplified as:

$$\left\|\Psi_{N_{x},N_{y}}^{\pm}(\mathbf{r})\right\|^{2} = \sum_{s=0}^{Q-1} A_{s}^{2} \left|\Phi_{N_{x},N_{y}}^{(s)}(\mathbf{r})\right|^{2},$$
(74)

where  $\|\Psi\|$  is the Frobenius norm of vector  $\Psi$ . Hereinafter, we derive the expression for the polarization projection states. The Jones matrix for a linear polarizer with a inclined angle of  $\theta_P$  is  $\mathbf{J}_P = \begin{bmatrix} \cos \theta_P & 0 \\ 0 & \sin \theta_P \end{bmatrix}$ , which can project the light into the linear polarization state with inclined angle of  $\theta_P$ . The SU(2) geometric vector beam after projection can be given by:

$$\widetilde{\boldsymbol{\Psi}}_{N_{x},N_{y}}^{\pm}(\mathbf{r}) = \sum_{s=0}^{Q-1} A_{s} e^{i\phi_{s}} \mathbf{J}_{P} \mathbf{J}_{s} \Phi_{N_{x},N_{y}}^{(s)}(\mathbf{r}) \,. \tag{75}$$

When  $N_x$  and  $N_y$  are both large enough, the lights on various orbits cannot make interference to each other, the intensity pattern can be given by:

$$\left\|\widetilde{\Psi}_{N_{x},N_{y}}^{\pm}(\mathbf{r})\right\|^{2} = \sum_{s=0}^{Q-1} A_{s}^{2} \left\|\mathbf{J}_{P}\mathbf{J}_{s}\right\|^{2} \left|\Phi_{N_{x},N_{y}}^{(s)}(\mathbf{r})\right|^{2}.$$
 (76)

Figures 14(c) and (d) show the intensity patterns after polarization projection and topological phase distribution of two general SU(2) vector beams as intermediate states between pure scalar hybrid beams and maximally nonseparable hybrid vector beams. Their phase distributions show interesting polygonal shapes but with divide of non-singularity and multisingularity regions.

### 6. Generation of geometric modes of light

In this section, we systematically review the methods to generate various kinds of SU(2) structured light, including the conventional laser cavity control and the recently advanced digital holographic shaping methods. In addition, here we not only describe the technical approaches, but also provide strict theoretical background to explain why and how the corresponding approaches can control the on-demand SU(2) structures.

### 6.1. Laser generation of SU(2) geometric beam

From the theories in above sections, the coupling between transverse and longitudinal modes plays a crucial role in manipulation of SU(2) structures in a laser beam. Thus a direct way to realize it is using the solid-state laser cavity with precise geometric control. For exploring the structured light fulfilling a set of paraxial multi-pass ray paths, the confocal cavity with special control of frequency-degenerate transverse and longitudinal modes is endorsed as the effective tool, which is firstly proposed by Herriott et al for a long history [63]. Such frequency-degenerate resonator scheme was also usually called as Herriott-type cell or Herriott-type cavity [64–66]. In recent decade, the Herriott-type cavity was used as laser oscillator with gain control of off-axis pumping to selectively generate SU(2) geometric beam [35, 42, 67]. In section 3.3, we have demonstrated that the frequency-degenerate cavity can fulfill the condition of generating SU(2) wave-packet. However, it is still a question: how to excite such mode in a frequency-degenerate cavity? In this section we give a proof that using off-axis pumping onto the degenerate cavity can excite the output laser mode as the form of SU(2) wave-packet.

To theoretically prove this, considering the gain distribution f(x, y, z) in a cavity, the resonant modes of the laser system pumped by a localized source can be solved from the inhomogeneous Helmholtz equation [42]:

$$\left(\nabla^2 + \widetilde{k}^2\right)\Psi(x, y, z) = \eta_c f(x, y, z),\tag{77}$$

where  $k = k_0 + i\alpha$ ,  $k_0 = 2\pi/\lambda_0$  is the given wave number of the laser with given wavelength  $\lambda_0$ , the factor  $\eta_c$  represents the conversion efficiency for the excitation source, and  $\alpha$  is a small loss parameter including losses from the scattering, the absorption, and the output coupling. If we set the gain distribution f(x, y, z) as the off-axis pumping spot distribution, we can solve the corresponding wave packet expression. And then if we set the cavity length *L* in the boundary condition as that of a frequency-degenerate state,  $L = L_{P/Q}$ , we can prove the wave packet result fulfills the SU(2) coherent state, as the form of multi-path geometric mode. The process can be expressed as the following:

$$\Psi(x, y, z) \propto \frac{\sqrt{2}L^2}{\pi^3 w_0 L_c} \sum_{l=l_0-l'}^{l_0+l'} \sum_{n=n_0-n'}^{n_0+n'} \times \frac{\sqrt{P(n, n_0)}}{[(l_0-l)+(n_0-n)\Omega] + i\alpha L/\pi} \psi_{n,m,l}^{(\mathrm{HG})}(x, y, z)$$
$$\xrightarrow{L=L_{P/Q}} \frac{1}{2^{N/2}} \sum_{K=0}^{N} \binom{N}{K}^{1/2} \psi_{\bar{n}_0+KQ,0,\bar{l}_0-PK}^{(\mathrm{HG})}(x, y, z), \quad (78)$$

We arrange the complete theoretical derivation from inhomogeneous Helmholtz equation to SU(2) coherent state in supplementary materials (available online at stacks.iop.org/ JOPT/23/124004/mmedia) in details. In conclusion, the frequency-degenerate cavity with off-axis pumping can emit the multi-path geometric laser mode of SU(2) coherent state.

### 6.2. Laser generation of higher-order SU(2) geometric beam

For generating higher-order SU(2) geometric beams from a laser, the technique exploits the astigmatism in normal frequency-degenerate cavity, namely degenerate astigmatic cavities [69, 70]. This case is for the more general mode coupling at transverse directions, that  $\omega_x \neq \omega_y$ , the transverse symmetry breaking occurs and more frequency degeneracies arise, and the effective cavity lengths in x-axis and y-axis can be expressed as  $L_x = L_{P/Q} - d/2$  and  $L_y = L_{P/Q} + d/2$ , where d is the small difference between  $L_x$  and  $L_y$  ( $d \ll L_{P/O}$ ), and result into different transverse mode frequencies at two orthogonal directions of  $\omega_x = (\omega_z/\pi) \sin^{-1}(L_x/R)$  and  $\omega_y =$  $(\omega_z/\pi)\sin^{-1}(L_v/R)$ , which correspond to the frequencies of separable 3D harmonic oscillator in equation (17). The small difference d between the two equivalent astigmatic cavity lengths,  $L_x$  and  $L_y$ , can be realized by applying an anisotropic crystal in experiment. The pump light spot also needs to be tuned as larger shape to accommodate higher-order transverse modes. In order to describe the more detailed frequency degeneracy in the cavity of transverse symmetry breaking, we introduce a dimensionless parameter  $\xi$  to reveal the fine adjustment on the cavity length as  $L = L_{P/Q} + \xi d$ , where  $|\xi| \ll 1$ , i.e. the effective cavity lengths are given by [43]:

$$L_x = L_{P/Q} - \frac{d}{2} + \xi d = L_{P/Q} + d\left(\xi - \frac{1}{2}\right), \quad (79)$$

$$L_{y} = L_{P/Q} + \frac{d}{2} + \xi d = L_{P/Q} + d\left(\xi + \frac{1}{2}\right).$$
(80)

In this symmetry breaking cavity, the transverse frequencies near cavity length  $L_{P/O}$  can be derived as:

$$\frac{\omega_x}{\omega_z} = \frac{1}{\pi} \sin^{-1} \left( \frac{L_x}{R} \right) = \frac{1}{\pi} \sin^{-1} \left( \frac{L_{P/Q} + \left(\xi - \frac{1}{2}\right)d}{R} \right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{\pi} \sin^{-1} \left( \frac{L_{P/Q}}{R} \left( 1 + \frac{\left(\xi - \frac{1}{2}\right)d}{L_{P/Q}} \right) \right)$$
(81)

$$\frac{\omega_y}{\omega_z} = \frac{1}{\pi} \sin^{-1} \left( \frac{L_y}{R} \right) = \frac{1}{\pi} \sin^{-1} \left( \frac{L_{P/Q} + \left(\xi + \frac{1}{2}\right)d}{R} \right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{\pi} \sin^{-1} \left( \frac{L_{P/Q}}{R} \left( 1 + \frac{\left(\xi + \frac{1}{2}\right)d}{L_{P/Q}} \right) \right).$$
(82)

Applying Taylor expansion of  $\sin^{-1}[a(1-x)] = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{f^{(n)}(0)}{n!} x^n = \sin^{-1}(a) + \frac{a}{\sqrt{1-a^2}} x + o(x^2)$ , we can simplify the equations (81) and (82) as:

$$\frac{\omega_x}{\omega_z} = \frac{1}{\pi} \left[ \sin^{-1} \left( \frac{L_{P/Q}}{R} \right) + \frac{\frac{L_{P/Q}}{R}}{\sqrt{1 - \left( \frac{L_{P/Q}}{R} \right)^2}} \frac{\left(\xi - \frac{1}{2}\right)d}{L_{P/Q}} \right]$$
$$= \frac{P}{Q} + \frac{1}{\pi} \left[ \frac{1}{R \cos\left(\frac{P}{Q}\pi\right)} \left(\xi - \frac{1}{2}\right)d \right] = \frac{P}{Q} + \beta \left(\xi - \frac{1}{2}\right)$$
(83)

$$\frac{\omega_y}{\omega_z} = \frac{1}{\pi} \left[ \sin^{-1} \left( \frac{L_{P/Q}}{R} \right) + \frac{\frac{L_{P/Q}}{R}}{\sqrt{1 - \left( \frac{L_{P/Q}}{R} \right)^2}} \frac{\left(\xi + \frac{1}{2}\right)d}{L_{P/Q}} \right]$$
$$= \frac{P}{Q} + \frac{1}{\pi} \left[ \frac{1}{R\cos\left(\frac{P}{Q}\pi\right)} \left(\xi + \frac{1}{2}\right)d \right] = \frac{P}{Q} + \beta \left(\xi + \frac{1}{2}\right),$$
(84)

where  $\beta = d/[\pi R \cos(\pi P/Q)]$ . An equivalent expressions for the expressions of transverse frequencies transverse frequencies are  $\Delta \omega_x/\omega_z = -\beta(\xi - 1/2)$  and  $\Delta \omega_y/\omega_z = \beta(\xi + 1/2)$ , based on  $\omega_x = \omega_0 - \Delta \omega_x$ ,  $\omega_y = \omega_0 + \Delta \omega_y$ , and  $\omega_0/\omega_z = P/Q$ . Equations (81) and (82) are the generalized cases of equations (61) and (62) in actual cavity. Substituting equations (81) and (82) into the eigenfrequency equation (38) and using the index notations of  $n = n_0 + pK$ ,  $m = m_0 + qK$ ,  $l = l_0 + sK$ , and the frequency difference spectrum near  $L = L_{P/Q}$  can be derived as:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\Delta\omega}{\omega_z} &= (n-n_0)\frac{\omega_x}{\omega_z} + (m-m_0)\frac{\omega_y}{\omega_z} + (l-l_0) \\ &= pK\frac{\omega_0 - \Delta\omega_x}{\omega_z} + qK\frac{\omega_0 + \Delta\omega_y}{\omega_z} + sK \\ &= K\left[p\beta\left(\xi - \frac{1}{2}\right) + q\beta\left(\xi + \frac{1}{2}\right) + (p+q)\frac{P}{Q} + s\right]. \end{aligned}$$
(85)

The frequency-degenerate state requires  $\Delta \omega = 0$ , thus triple integers (p,q,s) should fulfill (p+q)(P/Q) + s = 0 to reveal the independence of term  $\omega_0/\omega_z$  decided by the main cavity length  $L_{P/Q}$ , and the rest terms in equation (85) are written as:

$$\frac{\Delta\omega}{\omega_z} = K\beta \left[ p\left(\xi - \frac{1}{2}\right) + q\left(\xi + \frac{1}{2}\right) \right],\tag{86}$$

thus the frequency-degenerate states occur at the effective cavity lengths with  $\xi = \frac{1}{2}(p-q)/(p+q) \iff \Delta\omega = 0.$ 

The detailed frequency difference spectrum versus  $\xi$ near the cavity length  $L = L_{1/4}$  is shown in figure 15(b), where the frequency-degenerate states occur at corresponding values of  $\frac{1}{2}(p-q)/(p+q)$  are selectively marked. For example, under frequency-degenerate condition  $\xi = -3/4, -3/8, -1/8, 1/8, 3/8, 3/4$  corresponds to (p,q) = (-1,5), (1,7), (3,5), (5,3), (7,1), (5,-1)respectively. Figure 15(c) is the classical trajectories of Lissajous geometric modes for different integer pairs (p, q) corresponding to different  $\xi$  marked at figure 15(b). And the Lissajous geometric modes can be converted into corresponding vortex trochoidal geometric modes and other transitional topological curve states by using the astigmatic mode converter to control the latitude angle  $\theta$ . Besides, we could conclude that the closer the value of  $\kappa$  is to 1, the stronger the frequency-degenerate because the frequency-degenerate gap in figure 15(b) would be more obvious with  $\kappa$  closing to 1.

#### Y Shen

### 6.3. Laser generation of hybrid-order and vectorial SU(2) geometric beam

The last two sections (sections 6.2 and 6.3), introduce the method to directly generate various scalar SU(2) geometric mode from a degenerate cavity. In other words, a degenerate cavity with off-axis displacement should commonly generate the general SU(2) vector beams while normal SU(2) scalar beams are just specific cases. In order to generate vectorial geometric mode, a practical method is to introduce anisotropic medium in laser cavity, resulting into different polarization modulations on each ray orbit state in corresponding geometric mode. Actually, considering the anisotropism in gain medium induced by crystal cutting geometry and nonuniform thermal effect by asymmetric pumping, it was reported that the geometric beams can undergo complex amplitude and polarization modulations in cavity and be output as vector fields [71, 72]. For example, when we use c-cut uniaxial crystal (e.g. Nd:YVO<sub>4</sub>) as gain medium in a degenerate cavity with off-axis pumping, the generated oscillating ray paths would underlays different polarization modulation due to the different inclined angles, as shown in figure 16. Nd:YVO<sub>4</sub> is a positive uniaxial crystal with anisotropic refractive indices and stimulated absorption and emission cross-sections [73]. In c-cut Nd:YVO<sub>4</sub>, the principal c-axis is located on z-axis and other two a-axes on the (x, y) transverse plane. For a light beam with normal incidence, there is no birefringent effect; for a beam with a incident angle  $\theta_{in}$ , there is a birefringent modulation where the vertical linear polarized component undergoes an ordinary refractive index  $n_0$  and angle  $\theta_0$  while the horizontal linear polarized component undergoes an effective refractive index  $n_{\rm eff}$  and angle  $\theta_{\rm eff}$  involved in the ordinary and extraordinary refractive indices  $n_o$  and  $n_e$ :

$$n_{\rm eff} = \frac{n_o n_e}{\sqrt{n_e^2 \cos^2 \theta_{\rm in} + n_o^2 \sin^2 \theta_{\rm in}}}.$$
(87)

The difference of the two refractive indices leads to the phase retardation between the orthogonal polarized components, which can be represented as:

$$\Delta = \frac{2\pi d}{\lambda_0} \left( \frac{n_{\rm eff}}{\cos \theta_{\rm eff}} - \frac{n_o}{\cos \theta_o} \right),\tag{88}$$

where *d* is the thickness of the crystal. According to equation (88), when the laser crystal is given (*d* and  $\lambda_0$  is determined), the polarization control of geometric mode can be experimentally realized by two methods of: (1) modulating the refractive indices; (2) modulating the incidence angle, i.e. the included angle of classical orbits of geometric mode. The method-(1) can be realized by control of pump power, and the method-(2) can be realized by control of off-axis displacement.

6.3.1. Modulation by pump power. It has been proved that the temperature-dependent thermal effects in Nd:  $YVO_4$  solid-state laser is highly related to the pump power, while the refractive indices, stimulated absorption and emission cross-sections are all related to the thermal effect [74–76]. Thus the



**Figure 15.** Frequency-degenerate states. (a) The intensity distributions at y = 0 plane under various frequency-degenerate states in cavity. (b) The fractal frequency spectrum shows the distribution of frequency-degenerate states. The frequency difference ratio  $\Delta \omega / \omega_z$  as a function of L/R for the range of  $|n - n_0| \leq 12$ ,  $|m - m_0| \leq 12$ , and  $|l - l_0| \leq 12$ . The labeled frequency-degenerate gaps correspond to figure 8. (c) Partial zoom-in of fractal frequency spectrum in the neighborhood of P/Q = 1/4 on the condition of symmetry breaking. The new degeneracies arise at  $\xi = 1/2[(p - q)/(p + q)]$ . (d) The classical Lissajous parametric surfaces of different integer pairs (p, q) are marked at corresponding positions. And the Lissajous geometric modes can be converted into corresponding vortex trochoid geometric modes via an astigmatic mode converter. The fractal frequency spectra are calculated based on the theories in [43, 68].

different powers are corresponding to different thermal effects and then to different refractive indices. In SU(2) geometric mode, the pump spot is off-axis, thus nonuniform thermal effect is nonuniform and the polarization modulation is also nonuniform, resulting into the output of SU(2) vector beams.

6.3.2. Modulation by off-axis displacement. According to the ray-wave duality, the SU(2) geometric modes with different orders have different incident angles for various orbits and the ray trajectory is coupled with the pumping spot. Therefore, the control of pumping spot is related to the included angles of incidence rays in the classical trajectory. The different off-axis displacements corresponding to different transverse-orders of geometric mode result into different incidence angles. Note that the nonuniform thermal distribution and transverse-order comprehensively impact on the polarization of geometric mode.

In summary, using off-axis pumping in a frequencydegenerate cavity with c-cut  $Nd:YVO_4$  as gain medium is an effective way to generate hybrid and general SU(2) vector beams with high-dimensional entanglement property generated. Notably, there should be more styles of asymmetrical complex amplitude and polarization modulations by controlling general pumping location, crystal size and cut orientation style, for realizing other textures of complex SU(2) geometric vector beams.

### 6.4. Digital generation of SU(2) structured wave-packet

Over the past three decades, researchers have become increasingly interested in how to obtain structured light fields more flexibly. Obviously, the most effective way to do this is to use programmable devices for light generation. With the development of liquid-crystal spatial light modulator (LC-SLM) and digital micromirror device (DMD), various digital holographic modulation methods [77–81] applied to modulation generation of various eigen structured light fields including HLG modes, Ince-Gaussian modes, Bessel-Gaussian modes, Airy beams, etc.

However, can SU(2) structured wave-packets be generated in the same way? The answer is yes. Physically, the SU(2)



**Figure 16.** A schematic of the birefringent effects for the geometric beams in c-cut Nd: $YVO_4$  used in a degenerate cavity to generate an SU(2) geometric mode. (I) The index ellipsoid is depicted for determining the effective refractive index of an input beam. (II) For an obliquely incident beam, the vertical and horizontal polarized components respectively yield ordinary and effective refractive indices, and this difference can introduce a polarization modulation effect in the light beam. (III) For normal incidence, there would not be a polarization modulation because there is always an ordinary refractive index.

structured wave-packets obtained by coherent superimposed eigen modes that fulfill the frequency-degenerate condition as shown in equation (58). Mathematically, the SU(2) structured wave-packets be obtained by Fresnel diffraction from light field of any cross-section. Therefore, the SU(2) structured wave packets can be obtained by the same method of digital modulation as the eigen modes (as shown in figure 17). Which realized by binary intensity modulation with a DMD, or pure phase modulation with an LC-SLM.

Then, based on the above theory, a specific example is provided to construct an SLM computer generated hologram (CGH) mask for generating a SU(2) geometric mode, that is a trochoidal mode with parameters of P = 1, Q = 4, n = 8, m = 18, and N = 5, as shown in figure 18. Firstly, we prepare a phase blazed grating with a certain period, which is just a wrapped 1D phase slope. The period is selected based actual experimental condition in order to effectively separate the 1st diffraction order (figure 18(a)). Secondly, we superpose the theoretical phase distribution of the on-demand mode onto the blazed grating, and make that into a structured phase grating (figure 18(b)). Thirdly, we multiply the envelope function based on the theoretical amplitude pattern of the on-demand mode (figure 18(c)), then the SLM CGH mask was completed (figure 18(d)). If we illuminate the mask by a nearly-planar wave, e.g. a collimated TEM<sub>00</sub> mode at beam waist, and filter the 1st diffraction order, the modulated beam will become the SU(2) geometric mode demanded.

As a special structured modes, the SU(2) structured wavepackets are scalar modes. And its light field in any cross section can be represented by:

$$SU_2(x,y) = A(x,y)\exp(i\Phi(x,y)), \tag{89}$$

where A and  $\Phi$  are amplitude and phase of SU(2) structured wave-packets modes, respectively, and  $A \subset [0,1], \Phi \subset [0,2\pi]$ . The phase function of CGH method [78] is given as:

$$\Psi(x,y) = J_1^{-1} \left[ CA(x,y) \right] \sin[\Phi(x,y) + 2\pi \left( u_0 x + \nu_0 y \right)], \quad (90)$$

where  $J_1^{-1}$  is the inverse function of the first class of first-order Bessel functions, and the maximum value of *C* for fulfilling  $A = J_1[f(A)]/C$  is C = 0.5819.

$$M_s(x,y) = \exp\left\{i\Psi(x,y)\right\} = \sum_{q=\infty}^{\infty} m_q(x,y) \exp\left(\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} m_q(x,y) \exp\left(i2\pi \left(qu_0 x + q\nu_0 y\right)\right)\right], \quad (91)$$

where the  $u_0$  and  $v_0$  are the reciprocal of the period of linear blazed grating in x and y direction, respectively. Now that we have obtained the target SU(2) structured wave-packets in the first diffraction order of modulated light.

In contrast to the SLM, the merit of DMD is the fast speed. The DMD transmission function of the hologram is given as [79]:

$$T(x,y) = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{sign} \{ \cos [2\pi (u_0 x + \nu_0 y) + \Phi(x,y)] + \cos (\operatorname{arcsin}(A(x,y))) \}, \quad (92)$$

where the  $u_0$  and  $v_0$  have same physical meaning as SLM phase hologram method. The experimental generation of SU(2) geometric modes using DMD was recently reported [82]. And the wave-packets also was isolated and selected in the diffraction order of modulated light. Such digital modulation method can overcome this limitation to generate on-demand the SU(2) structured wave-packets in free space without a cavity [58]. extending advanced ray-wave geometric modes as a powerful and customized toolbox into applications such as optical communication, optical tweezers, high dimensional cryptography, and quantum entanglement.

### 7. Geometric representations of geometric light

Abstractly geometric representations of complex structured light is convenient for researching their topological evolution and revealing their topological structure intuitively, playing as a salient toolkit to enrich the technologies of optical manipulation and quantum information, particularly pertaining to multidimensional geometric light. Thus, a lot of efforts have been devoted to related research.

### 7.1. Poincaré sphere: from polarization to OAM

Polarization and spatial mode, the two basic DoFs to construct structured light, both have classic graphical representations to describe their evolutions. In particular, the polarization state in two-dimensional qubit space is mapped on the Poincaré sphere:

$$|\psi_p\rangle = \cos(\theta/2)e^{-i\phi}|R\rangle + \sin(\theta/2)e^{i\phi}|L\rangle, \qquad (93)$$

as shown in figure 19(a). The spatial mode is always given by the OAM state of light, sharing the same qubit formation of the polarization, which can be also mapped on a Poincaré-like sphere [83]:

$$|\psi_o\rangle = \cos(\theta/2)e^{-i\phi}|\ell_1\rangle + \sin(\theta/2)e^{i\phi}|\ell_2\rangle, \qquad (94)$$



**Figure 17.** Schematic diagram of digital hologram modulation method for generating SU(2) structured wave-packets. The hologram masks (essentially computer generated hologram, CGH) loaded on spatial light modulator carries the amplitude and phase information of the target light. A Gaussian beam illuminates the CGH. Then the first order of outputting beam contains the target light. After filtering, the intensity distribution of the target light can be collected. The subplot on right top section shows the classical trajectories and transverse intensity distributions at some planes revealing ray-wave duality, the subplot on right bottom section shows the corresponding spatial wave packets.



**Figure 18.** An example to construct an SLM phase mask for generating a SU(2) geometric mode: (a) a phase blazed grating with a certain period; (b) the phase of the SU(2) geometric mode; (c) the amplitude of the SU(2) geometric mode; (d) the SLM CGH mask for generating the SU(2) geometric mode.

where  $|\ell_1\rangle$  and  $|\ell_2\rangle$  are the two OAM states with topological charges  $\ell_1$  and  $\ell_2$  corresponding to the two poles of Poincaré sphere, see figure 19(b). This representation also plays an important role in quantum optics, because it represent a unit of quantum information (qubit). Therefore the vector beam state is combining the two DoFs together, that is using the tensor product of OAM state and polarization state,  $|\psi_v\rangle =$  $|\psi_o\rangle \otimes |\psi_p\rangle$ , thus which can also be represented by a Poincaré sphere, namely higher-order or hybrid-order Poincaré sphere [84, 85]:

$$|\psi_{\nu}\rangle = \cos(\theta/2)e^{-i\phi}|\ell_{1}\rangle|R\rangle + \sin(\theta/2)e^{i\phi}|\ell_{2}\rangle|L\rangle, \quad (95)$$

as shown in figure 19(c). Therefore, the vector beam, as the two-DoF 2D non-separable state, shares the same formation as the bipartite entangled state in quantum mechanics. The conventional structured light are limited by two DoFs, spatial mode (OAM) and polarization. While we can find a way to generalize the description of structured light with extended DoFs and higher dimensions. In the OAM Poincaré sphere model, we actually only consider the azimuthal mode of a laser beam, but a complete description of laser beam should includes three modes: one longitudinal mode  $|l\rangle$  and two transverse modes (azimuthal  $|\ell\rangle$  and radial  $|p\rangle$  modes, or horizontal  $|n\rangle$  and vertical  $|m\rangle$  modes). The longitudinal mode determines how the beam is divergent upon propagation. The two

transverse modes determine the singularity distributions along the two transverse directions. A generalized model considering the three modes can be exploited by the SU(2) transformation [86–88],

$$\psi_{n,m,l}^{\theta,\varphi}(x,y,z) = \sum_{\ell'=-N/2}^{N/2} e^{-iK\varphi/2} d_{\ell'/2,\ell/2}^{N/2}(\theta) \mathrm{LG}_{\rho,\ell,l}(r,\varphi,z),$$
(96)

where N = n + m,  $\rho = \min(n, m)$ ,  $\ell = n - m$ ,  $d_{m',m}^j(\theta)$  is the Wigner *d* function, and  $LG_{\rho,\ell,l}(r,\varphi,z)$  is LG mode with radial and azimuthal indices of  $\rho$  and  $\ell$ . The generalized eigenstate of equation (96) forms a family of HLG modes, and which can also be mapped on a modal Poincaré sphere with full OAM evolution, as shown in figure 20(a), the subplots on north and south poles are LG modes with opposite OAM. The subplots on equator are HG modes and others are HLG modes. The longitudinal mode l cannot revealed by the transverse pattern but impacts on how the beam is divergent along the longitudinal direction, as shown in figures 20(b)-(d), which plays an important role in superposing complex longitudinally variant structured beams (see section 7.3 for more details). This modal Poincaré sphere representation is the most general description of scalar freespace eigenmodes under the general SU(2) symmetry of paraxial beam system. While, it is also



**Figure 19.** (a) Poincaré sphere represents the polarization state of light. (b) Poincaré sphere represents the OAM mode of light, The Hue color refers to phase from 0 to  $2\pi$  and the darkness/brightness refers to the intensity from 0 to 1. (c) High-order Poincaré sphere represents complex the vector field of light.



**Figure 20.** (a) Modal Poincaré sphere represents the HLG eigenmode with OAM evolution with example of indices (m,n) = (2,1). (b)–(d) the longitudinally divergent profiles of LG, HLG, and HG modes.

a valuable direction to further generalize the modal, coupled with the polarization Poincaré sphere, to include more kinds of intriguing vectorial structured light beams.

### 7.2. Ray-optics Poincaré sphere for structured Gaussian eigenmodes

Paraxial ray families crossing the focal plane can be represented as dual-parameter families of ellipses, parametrized by curves on an ray-optics Poincaré sphere for rays with diverse caustic structures. With deeper understanding of structured



**Figure 21.** (a) The spatial wave packet of a propagating HG mode and (b) corresponding analogue caustic representation including a set of rays. (c) The ray-optics Poincaré sphere with corresponding rays modes shown at selective points, and corresponding Poincaré paths for various points are marked as purple circles. (a), (b) Reprinted (figure) with permission from [92], Copyright (2018) by the American Physical Society.

eigenmodes, any HLG mode can be described in terms of the ray family in which each ray is specified by the values of two periodic parameters so as to be mapped on such Poincaré sphere, which has been proposed in the context of semiclassical estimates for structured light [89–92]. For example, the behavior of a propagating HG mode as figure 21(a) can be analogue to a corresponding ray caustics as figure 21(b).

In ray-optics Poincaré sphere, a ray caustic mode is not represented by a single point on the sphere, but by the point together with a closed loop surrounded to it over the sphere model, namely Poincaré path, as shown in figure 21(c). In paraxial ray optics, each ray can be expressed as  $\mathbf{Q} + i\mathbf{P}$ , where  $\mathbf{Q} = (Q_x, Q_y)$  is the transverse coordinate and  $\mathbf{P} = (P_x, P_y)$  is the transverse direction vector. At z=0 plane,  $\mathbf{Q}(\tau;\theta,\varphi) =$  $Q_0 \ \Re[\mathbf{v}(\theta,\varphi)\exp(-i\tau), \ \mathbf{P}(\tau;\theta,\varphi) = P_0 \ \Im[\mathbf{v}(\theta,\varphi)\exp(-i\tau)]$  $(0 \leq \tau \leq 2\pi)$ , where **v** is an unit vector defined on Poincaré sphere as  $\mathbf{v}(\theta, \varphi) = \sin(\theta/2)(\cos(\varphi/2), \sin(\varphi/2)) +$  $i\cos(\theta/2)(-\sin(\varphi/2),\cos(\varphi/2)),$ where  $(s_1, s_2, s_3) =$  $(\sin(\theta)\cos(\varphi),\sin(\theta)\sin(\varphi),\cos(\theta))$  determines the points on Poincaré sphere,  $0 \leq \theta \leq \pi$ ,  $0 \leq \varphi \leq 2\pi$ . For fixed  $(\theta, \varphi)$ ,  $(s_1, s_2, s_3)$  is a fixed point on Poincaré sphere, **Q** traces out an ellipse. For varying  $(\theta, \varphi)$ , if  $(s_1, s_2, s_3)$  can form a closed Poincaré path, the trajectories of Q consists of a series of ellipses corresponding to generalized HLG beams, then the wave fields can be estimated only based on ray description validly [51, 89, 93].

In addition to the conditions for HLG beams, a generalized model of the ray-optics Poincaré sphere for more general structured Gaussian beam was proposed recently [94]. The general structured Gaussian beam with total order *N* can be expressed as  $|U\rangle = \sum_{\ell} c_{\ell} |N, \ell\rangle$ , where  $|N, \ell\rangle$  represents LG mode with total order number *N* and angular order  $\ell$ , expansion coefficients  $c_{\ell}$  are used to define *N*th-order Majorana

polynomial as 
$$S(\xi) = \sum_{\ell/2=-N/2}^{N/2} \sqrt{\binom{N}{\frac{N+\ell}{2}}} c_{\ell}^* \xi^{\frac{N-\ell}{2}}$$
, where

the zeros of Majorana polynomial map onto so-called modal Majorana sphere through a stereographic projection  $\xi = \tan(\theta/2)e^{i\phi}$ . Thus any structured Gaussian beam could beniquely represented by *N* points on modal Majorana sphere. This representation method reveals hidden symmetries of structured Gaussian beams and provides a deep physical insight for geometric phases. Note that the Majorana sphere and Poincaré sphere have fundamental difference to represent a mode. The Poincare sphere represent a mode by a point on it, but the Majorana represent a mode by a special set of points on it. That is a manifestation that majorana model can open higher dimensions of structured beams [94, 95].

### 7.3. General SU(2) Poincaré sphere for ray-wave structured light

In above two sections, elegant models are reviewed to map arbitrary-order SU(2) eigenmodes, i.e. HLG modes, onto a Poincaré sphere and reveal the general OAM evolution, especially in both wave and ray treatment. Although each eigenmode has corresponding ray caustic representation, the caustics is just a phenomenological interpretation of the wave mode propagation. In contrast to this, the SU(2) coherent state mode with ray-wave duality, as well-defined superposed state of a set of eigenmodes, can show more rigorous ray-wave coupling representation, where the wave pattern is exactly coupled with the distribution of rays. Hereinafter, the modal of general SU(2) Poincaré sphere will be shown to represent the coherent state ray-wave structured light.

Since arbitrary-order HLG eigenmodes can be mapped on Poincaré sphere, the SU(2) coherent state, as the superposed wave-packet with a special set of eigenmodes can also be mapped on Poincaré sphere, to further generalize the Poincaré sphere model, namely, SU(2) Poincaré sphere [96]. Based on equation (96) and, the closed-form expression can be given by:

$$\Psi_{n,m,l}^{\theta,\varphi,\phi,p,q}(x,y,z) = \frac{1}{2^{M/2}} \sum_{K=0}^{M} e^{iK\phi} \binom{M}{K}^{1/2} \\ \times \psi_{n+pK,m+qK,l-PK}^{\theta,\varphi}(x,y,z), \qquad (97)$$

which enables us to map the SU(2) coherent state onto a new generalized Poincaré sphere, namely, a SU(2) Poincaré sphere, as shown in figure 22 for a example case of multi-path



**Figure 22.** SU(2) Poincaré sphere represents the ray-wave geometric mode, for both evolutions of spatial wave pattern and ray trajectory.

geometric mode with  $\Omega = 1/6$ , which vividly illustrates the OAM evolutions of both the spatial geometric wave packet together and the coupled 6-ray caustics. Also the SU(2) Poincaré sphere has its higher-order generalization to represent multi-HLG and Lissajous-to-trochoidal geometric modes, the diverse generalized forms of eigenmode Poincaré sphere and SU(2) Poincaré sphere are shown in figures 23(a) and (b), respectively. Note that a diagram showing how the various kinds of SU(2) beams relate to each other can refer to figure 11. As a more generalized form of eigenmode Poincaré sphere, SU(2) Poincaré sphere opens new dimensions to reveal the topological evolution of complex ray-wave structured light, paving the way to the new studies of spin-to-orbital conversion, complex mode entanglement, optical encoding and communication, and geometric phase transition.

### 8. Other kinds of SU(2) structured light

The SU(2) symmetry in structured light is so general that there are many other extensions not covered above. In addition to the freespace geometric beams at frequency degenerate states, there are still many other kinds of exotic SU(2) structured light with general conditions. For instance, when a basic multi-spot ray-wave SU(2) geometric mode is tuned from a pure frequency-degenerate state into a quasi-degenerate state, multiple spots in the pattern can be connected to each others to form a polygonal vortex beam. We can introduce astigmatic effects onto an basic SU(2) geometric mode to generate astigmatic SU(2) geometric mode with more general longitudinally variant patterns. We can also can replace trivial freespace HLG eigenmodes state into nontrivial nondiffracting modes and waveguide modes and so on to explore more intriguing forms of SU(2) structured light. Hereinafter,



**Figure 23.** (a) Eigenmode Poincaré sphere representations for polarization states, OAM mode states and HLG modes in inner, middle, and outer inserts, respectively. The poles represent right- and left-handed circular polarizations, right- and left-handed-OAM LG modes and higher-order LG modes of opposite OAM. The equator linear polarization, HG modes and higher-order HG modes. (b) SU(2) Poincaré sphere representations for multi-path, multi-HLG, and Lissajous-trochoidal ray-wave geometric modes.

these exotic SU(2) structured light will be introduced in more details.

### 8.1. Polygonal vortex beams

The frequency-degenerate theory is established under the assumption of monochromatic light field, while the actual laser beams are always quasi-monochromatic with a spectral linewidth. Thus, a mode in degenerate state cannot drastically collapse to a non-degenerate state when the frequency-degenerate state is adjusted to a condition in the vicinity of degenerate state. It was reported that, at a quasi-degenerate state, the original multiple spots of the transverse pattern of SU(2) vortex can be connected to each others to form an exotic polygonal shape, i.e. the polygonal vortex beams [67], see figure 24. The quasi-frequency-degenerate (QFD) wave-function to describe the mode behavior in the vicinity of frequency-degenerate state [67]:

$$\Psi(x, y, z) = \frac{1}{2^{N/2}} \sum_{K=0}^{N} \left[ \binom{N}{K}^{1/2} e^{iK\phi} + q_K \right] \\ \times \psi_{\bar{n}_0 + KQ, 0, \bar{l}_0 - PK}^{(\text{HLG})}(x, y, z),$$
(98)

which can be seen as a superposition of a pure SU(2) degenerate HLG modes and some additional HLG modes, where the coefficient  $q_K$  represent the weights of the superposed  $\psi_{\bar{n}_0+KQ,0,\bar{l}_0-PK}^{\text{HLG}}(x,y,z)$  modes. The physical meaning of parameter  $q_K$  can be interpreted as the component of the decomposed HG mode  $\psi_{\bar{n}_0+KQ,0,\bar{l}_0-PK}^{(\text{HLG})}(x,y,z)$  outside of the pure SU(2) wave-packet, see simulation examples in figures 25(a1)–(a4).

In a optical resonator, the condition of a pure SU(2) wavepacket in degenerate states is more rigorous than that of a HG mode in non-degenerate states. Therefore, it is rational to understand the quasi-degenerate states as that some extrinsic



**Figure 24.** At a quasi-degenerate state, the original multiple spots of the transverse pattern of SU(2) vortex can be connected to each others to form an exotic polygonal shape, i.e. the polygonal vortex beams.

HG modes outside a pure SU(2) wave-packet are mixed in. The polygonal vortex beams can be demonstrated with the intrinsic LG bases, which can be realized by a an external  $\pi/2$ -cylindrical-lens astigmatic mode converter. Additionally, we note that the occurrence of degenerate states is not only determined by the fraction, but also impacted by factors such as pump power, pump beam size, off-axis displacement, gain medium, etc [97]. For the same fraction, the laser can possibly perform as a degenerate state or a quasi-degenerate state



**Figure 25.** Exotic SU(2) structured light. (a) Quasi-degenerate state SU(2) geometric beam, the transverse distributions for (a1), (a2)  $(|\Omega = 1/3\rangle)$  and (a3), (a4)  $(|\Omega = 1/4\rangle)$ . (b) Astigmatic hybrid SU(2) geometric beam, the transverse distributions  $(|\Omega = 1/5\rangle)$  at z = 0 plane for (b1), (b2) and at far field for (b3), (b4). (c) Resonate SU(2) geometric beam, the transverse distributions for (c1), (c2) (p,q) = (-1,4) and (c3), (c4) (p,q) = (0,3). (d) Localized SU(2) geometric microlaser mode, the transverse distributions for (d1)(d2)  $\phi = 0$  and (d3)(d4)  $\phi = \pi/2$ . (e) Eigenmodes of SU(2) coupled commensurate harmonic oscillators,  $n_1 = 0$  for (e1), (e2) and  $n_1 = 2$  for (e3), (e4). Rows 1,3 for intensity distributions and rows 2,4 for phase distributions, respectively (colormap: darkness to brightness means 0 to 1 for intensity,  $-\pi$  to  $\pi$  for phase, 0 to  $\pi/2$  for  $P_1$  and  $-\pi$  to  $\pi$  for  $P_2$ , respectively).

or even a non-degenerate state for different gain media, pump power, off-axis displacement, etc which is related by the form of quasi-degenerate parameters  $q_K$ . However, such model cannot predict the value of  $q_K$  for the given polygonal geometry. Recently, some improved models were proposed that can make the polygonal vortex beams exactly more strictly coupled with the given polygonal geometry [97, 98]. However, which cannot be related to the corresponding frequencydegenerate state. Thus the complete theory for polygonal vortex beams is still to be explored.

### 8.2. Astigmatic hybrid SU(2) geometric beams

Recently, an exotic kind of structured light, astigmatic hybrid SU(2) geometric beam, has been proposed in the perspective of classical trajectories [99], providing a physical insight in the picture of semi-classical ray-wave duality [100, 101]. The hybrid planar geometric beam would evolve to circular vortex geometric beam during propagation after passing through the cylindrical lens, as shown in figures 25(b1)–(b4). Selecting z = 0 as the position of the cylindrical lens and  $(N_x, N_y) = (N, 0)$ , the mathematical formulas of astigmatic hybrid classical trajectories cluster  $\{(x'_s, y'_s, z)\}_h$  has been derived for characterizing the topological evolution of astigmatic hybrid SU(2) geometric beam as [99]:

$$\{(x'_{s}, y'_{s}, z)\}_{h} = \{(x'_{s}, y'_{s}, z)\}_{N,0,\phi} + \{(x'_{s}, y'_{s}, z)\}_{\eta N,0,\phi+\pi},$$
(99)

where *N* is the transverse indices,  $\eta = \cos^2(2\pi/Q)/\cos^2(\pi/Q)$ ,  $\{(x'_s, y'_s, z)\}_{N,0,\phi}$  is the cluster of classical trajectories of astigmatic geometric beam, which can be mathematically expressed as [99]:

$$\begin{cases} x'_{s}(z) = \sqrt{N}\cos(\alpha)w_{x'}(z)\cos[\theta_{s} + \phi_{x} \pm \vartheta_{G,x'}(z)] \\ y'_{s}(z) = -\sqrt{N}\sin(\alpha)w_{y'}(z)\cos[\theta_{s} + \phi_{x} \pm \vartheta_{G,y'}(z)] \end{cases},$$
(100)

where  $\theta_s = 2\pi sP/Q$ ,  $\theta_{G,x'}(z) = \pi/2 + \tan^{-1}(\frac{z-z_R}{z_R})$ ,  $\theta_{G,y'}(z) = \tan^{-1}(\frac{z+z_R}{z_R})$  are astigmatic Gouy phases in x'- and y'-axis,  $w_{x'}(z) = w_0 \sqrt{1 + (\frac{z-z_R}{z_R})^2}$ ,  $w_{y'}(z) = w_0 \sqrt{1 + (\frac{z+z_R}{z_R})^2}$  are astigmatic Gaussian beam waist para-

meters [102, 103]. Then we can get the spatial wave-packet of astigmatic geometric beam by substituting equation (100) into equation (53) as  $\Phi(x'_s, y'_s, z)$   $(x_s \to x'_s, y_s \to y'_s)$ . And the spatial wave-packet of astigmatic hybrid geometric beam can be expressed as  $\Phi_h(x'_s, y'_s, z) = \Phi_{N,0,\phi}(x'_s, y'_s, z) +$  $\Phi_{\eta N,0,\phi+\pi}(x'_s,y'_s,z)$ . Particularly, an exotic vector structured light, vector astigmatic hybrid SU(2) geometric beam can be constructed by modulating the polarization of  $\Phi_{N,0,\phi}(x'_s, y'_s, z)$ and  $\Phi_{\eta N,0,\phi+\pi}(x'_s,y'_s,z)$ , which can realize longitudinallyvariant spatial twisted ray-wave structure and vector singularities upon propagation, as shown in figures 25(b1)-(b4),  $|\Phi_h\rangle = \Phi_{N,0,\phi}(x'_s, y'_s, z)|L\rangle + \Phi_{\eta N,0,\phi+\pi}(x'_s, y'_s, z)|V\rangle,$ where  $|L\rangle$  and  $|V\rangle$  are left-handed circular polarization and vertical polarization. In order to reveal more vector properties about vector structured light, two parameter has been defined as  $P_1 = \tan^{-1}(|E_x|/|E_y|)$  and  $P_2 = \tan^{-1}(E_x/E_y)$  [62]. The spatial wave-packet located on each astigmatic ray can be obtained by substituting equation (100) into equation (52). Figures 25(b1)-(b4) show the exotic longitudinally-variant property of vector astigmatic hybrid SU(2) geometric beam, evolving from planar geometric beam without singularities at z = 0 plane to vortex geometric beam with multi-singularities at far field, which is significant for further exploring the related applications in longitudinally variant polarized optics, optical manipulation and communication, etc [8, 104–106]. Besides, the exotic vector astigmatic hybrid SU(2) geometric beam can have more controllable DoFs by modulating the polarization of sub-beams [99].

### 8.3. Resonate SU(2) geometric beams

SU(2) geometric beams are essentially coherent superposition of a series of eigenmodes with sub-Poisson distribution weights and same frequency. Therefore, the transformations of SU(2) geometric modes can be realized by converting eigenmodes. For example, the planar geometric modes can be converted to circular geometric modes by converting HG modes to LG modes. Furthermore, LG modes can be converted into Bessel modes by using an axicon [107] leading to an exotic kind of geometric modes, i.e. resonate geometric modes [108], as shown in figures 25(c1)–(c4). In fact, Bessel beams are propagation-invariant solutions in cylindrical waveguide [109]. Because the confinement of waveguide can be regarded as a circular billiard for light, the resonate geometric modes, coherent superposition of nearly degenerate Bessel beams, can be regarded as coherent state related with a circular quantum billiard [110], which can be expressed as [108, 110]:

$$\Psi_{n,m}^{\phi,p,q}(x,y,z) = \frac{1}{2^{M/2}} e^{-ik\tilde{z}} \sum_{K=0}^{M} e^{iK\phi} \binom{M}{K}^{1/2} \\ \times \operatorname{BG}_{n+qK,m-pK}(x,y,z) e^{i(n+qK)\vartheta(z)}, \quad (101)$$

$$BG_{n,m}(x,y,z) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} N_{n,m} J_n(k_{n,m}r) e^{in\varphi} e^{-\frac{r^2}{w(z)^2}}, \quad (102)$$

where  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}\pi}$  is angular normalization factor,  $N_{n,m}$  is radial normalization factor derived from  $N_{n,m}^2 \int_0^R [J_n(k_{n,m}r)]^2 r dr = 1$ ,  $J_n$  is the first kind of Bessel function with indices  $n, r = \sqrt{x^2 + y^2}$ ,  $\varphi = \tan^{-1}(y/x)$ ,  $\tilde{z} = z + \frac{(x^2 + y^2)z}{2(z^2 + z_R^2)}$ , and  $k_{n,m}R$  is *m*th zero of  $J_n$  [111].

### 8.4. Localized SU(2) geometric microlaser beams

SU(2) coherent state can not only be constructed in free space, but also existed in localized waveguide or microcavities. In construct to the eigenmodes in freespace, the eigenmodes in a localized waveguide require boundary conditions determined by its geometric shape. The frequency-degenerate set of eigenmodes in a waveguide is also existed and can play as the eigenstates for constructing the SU(2) coherent state wavepacket. For example of a 2D square waveguide with side length of *a*, rather than the HG mode solutions in freespace, the eigenmode can be solved as [112]:

$$\psi_{K,N-K}(x,y) = \frac{2}{a} \sin\left[(K+1)\frac{\pi x}{a}\right] \cos\left[(N-K+1)\frac{\pi y}{a}\right],$$
(103)

where K = 0, 1, 2, ..., N, which can also act as eigenstates to construct an SU(2) coherent state [113, 114]:

$$\Psi_{N,M}^{\phi,p,q}(x,y) = \frac{1}{2^{N/2}} e^{-ik\tilde{z}} \sum_{K=0}^{N} e^{iK\phi} \binom{N}{K}^{1/2} \\ \times \psi_{p(K+1),M+q(N-K)}(x,y), \qquad (104)$$

Such micro-scale localized SU(2) geometric beam also harness intriguing ray-wave duality, that the corresponding classical trajectory includes the rays bouncing back and forth in a waveguide with prescribed geometric orbits [115]. Figures 25(d1)–(d4) show some patterns of micro-scale localized SU(2) geometric beams (N = 2, p = q = 1, M = 0). The earliest localized SU(2) geometric mode was realized in a electric pumped square waveguide as a vertical cavity surface emitting laser (VCSEL), where the lasing pattern is described as quantum billiards [114, 116]. The quantum billiard effect was also realized by triangle waveguide, forming more general patterns and intriguing vortex lattices effect [113]. With the development of microlaser, the localized SU(2) geometric mode manipulated in a VCSEL can emit the SU(2) structured light from waveguide into free space [117, 118].

Recently, the SU(2) structured light realized in microlasers has hatched tremendous attentions in fundamental physics. The ray-wave light structure in microcavities provided an effective way to realize high-power directional emission from the microscale [119]. Also, combining the advanced organic single-crystalline materials, the crystalline microresonators enables more intriguing whispering-gallery modes with improved tunable polygonal geometries [120]. It was also unveiled that the ray-wave duality in microcavities provide new opportunities to study fundamental physical effects of wave chaos [121] and non-Hermitian physics [122], which was also recently applied to suppressing spatiotemporal instabilities of microlaser [123]. The ray-wave structured light in semiconductor laser was also used as a powerful tool to control complex coherent modes [124, 125] and directional emission [126], enabling new applications in imaging and wavefront shaping [127].

### 8.5. Commensurate harmonic oscillator coupled geometric beams and beyond

These kinds of exotic SU(2) structured light mentioned above are the cases of classical structured light corresponding to SU(2) coherent state. Here we will introduce another exotic structured light with SU(2) symmetry, an eigenstate of SU(2) coupled commensurate harmonic oscillator [128]. For a generalized anisotropic Hamiltonian in equation (26), the coupling term  $\sum_{j} \Omega_{j}J_{j}$  can be regarded as SU(2) coupling interaction and

the corresponding eigenstate can be expressed as [128]:

$$|n_{1}p + \lambda_{1}, n_{2}1 + \lambda_{2}\rangle_{\mathcal{H}} = e^{iN\alpha/2} \sum_{m_{1}=0}^{N} e^{-im_{1}\alpha} d_{m_{1}-N/2, n_{1}-N/2}^{N/2} \times (\beta) |m_{1}p + \lambda_{1}, m_{2}1 + \lambda_{2}\rangle_{\mathcal{H}_{0}},$$
(105)

where  $|m_1p + \lambda_1, m_2 1 + \lambda_2\rangle_{\mathcal{H}_0}$  represents eigenstate of isotropic  $\mathcal{H}_0$  corresponding to HG modes with indices  $(m_1p + \lambda_1, m_2 1 + \lambda_2), d_{m_1 - N/2, n_1 - N/2}^{N/2}(\beta)$  is wigner *d* coefficient,  $\alpha = -\tan^{-1}(\Omega_2/\Omega_1), \beta = -\tan^{-1}(\sqrt{\Omega_1^2 + \Omega_2^2}/\Omega_3), N = n_1 + n_2 = m_1 + m_2$ . Eigenmodes corresponding to anisotropic Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}$  are a linear superposition of HG modes, where the intensity are located on Lissajous curves from single to multiple trajectories with  $n_1$  increasing, as shown in figures 25(e1)–(e4). The simulation parameters are as N = 30,  $(p,q) = (2,1), (\alpha,\beta) = (\pi/2,\pi/2), (\lambda_1,\lambda_2) = (0,0)$ .

Based on the above discussions, the SU(2) mathematical model with multiple controllable parameters can derive diverse exotic geometric modes with infinite possibilities. Besides the above four typical forms, many new modes were emerged very recently, polygonal Airy beams [129], frequency-degenerate bottle beams [130], Siegman's elegant laser modes [131], standing-wave and traveling-wave unified geometric mode [82], to name a few. There are definitely many hidden parameters in SU(2) symmetry to be opened to explore more intriguing geometric modes in the future.



Figure 26. A conventional vector vortex beam as the form of bipartite Bell entangled state and the novel SU(2) vector beams as the form of multipartite Greenberger–Horne–Zeilinger (GHZ) state.

### 8.6. Classically entangled SU(2) structured light

What is classical entanglement? Entanglement, a purely quantum mechanical phenomenon, was originally coined to describe quantum correlations that can be shared between spatially separated multi-particle systems. A defining characteristic of such systems is nonseparability: mathematically, the wavefunctions of entangled systems cannot be written as separable products of the individual subsystems. An typical example is a Bell states,

$$|\phi\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(|0\rangle_A |0\rangle_B + |1\rangle_A |1\rangle_B\right), \tag{106}$$

where the states  $|0\rangle$  and  $|1\rangle$  form an information basis for the subsystem *A* and *B*. A consequence of equation (106) is that the two systems cannot be written as separable product, hence it is nonseparable. In classical regime, nonlocal interaction at a distance is not existed, but nonseparability as an mathematic relation can be widely applied. The classical entanglement describes systems where the nonseparability or equivalently entanglement, occurs between the internal DoFs of particles. In optics such similarities have been discussed at length in [132–135]. Typical examples of a classical entangled light are vector vortex beams, where the correlations between the polarization and spatial components mimick two-particle maximally entangled Bell states:

$$|\psi\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left( |u_R\rangle_A |R\rangle_B + |u_L\rangle_A |L\rangle_B \right.$$
(107)

Here the labels *A* and *B* mark the spatial and polarization components just as one would a composite system of two particles. Here the difference is that the kets mark the DoFs of each single photon in the field and not spatially separated photons. Also notice that the field are completely separable for  $u_R = u_L$ .

Conventionally, a vector vortex beam fulfill the form of bipartite classical entanglement, as the Bell state, with two DoFs of spatial mode and polarization, see figure 26 left. Now,

SU(2) structured light opens an new platform to construct more intriguing classically entangled states, because it harnesses more intrinsic DoFs due to its unique ray-wave geometric structure. For instance, a ray-wave SU(2) geometric beam can have ray oscillating directions and locations to be the extended DoFs. A multi-axis vortex SU(2) geometric mode can have not only central OAM but also partial OAM along sub-rays as extended DoFs. Hereinafter we demonstrate how to use the intrinsic DoFs of SU(2) structured light to represent multi-partite classically entangled state, see figure 26 right, beyond the bipartite Bell state.

For example at  $|\Omega = 1/4\rangle$  ( $\phi_x = \pi/4$ ) we used in the main text, positive and negative W-shaped trajectories coincide exactly, i.e. the positive and negative oscillating states are expressed by:

$$|+\rangle = |u_0^-\rangle |u_1^+\rangle |u_3^-\rangle |u_2^+\rangle, \quad |-\rangle = |u_0^+\rangle |u_1^-\rangle |u_3^+\rangle |u_2^-\rangle,$$
(108)

as shown in figure 2 in the main text. Additionally, in the four periodic round-trips, two share the first bouncing location and other two share the second one, i.e. the round-trip location states are expressed by:

$$|1\rangle = |u_0^{\pm}\rangle |u_1^{\pm}\rangle, \quad |2\rangle = |u_2^{\pm}\rangle |u_3^{\pm}\rangle. \tag{109}$$

The output states of various rays can be expressed by the corresponding positively longitudinal propagation components of product states between the direction and location states, which are given by:

$$\begin{aligned} |+\rangle|1\rangle &= |u_1^+\rangle, \qquad |+\rangle|2\rangle &= |u_2^+\rangle, \\ |-\rangle|1\rangle &= |u_0^+\rangle, \qquad |-\rangle|2\rangle &= |u_3^+\rangle. \end{aligned}$$
(110)

The ray trajectories in a complete oscillation and the output ray states from cavity are shown in figure 27. In our setup, the concave mirror is the laser output mirror, thus only the forward-propagation states are observable, as the four output ray states marked in figure 27.



**Figure 27.** Trajectory direction and location states. The ray orbit components for the positive and negative *x*-direction construct the trajectory for the direction states  $|+\rangle$  and  $|-\rangle$ , and the two  $|+\rangle$  and  $|-\rangle$  construct a complete oscillation in a degenerate laser cavity. The output ray states can be represented by the product states of direction and location states.

The SU(2) geometric vector beam can be expressed in the high-dimensional Hilbert space using the new DoFs from raywave representation. For instance of the geometric mode in degenerate state  $|\Omega = 1/4\rangle$ , the geometric vector beam can be represented by trajectory states:

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \Psi_{N_{x},N_{y}}^{\pm} \right\rangle &= \sum_{s=0}^{3} A_{s} e^{i\phi_{s}} \left| \mathbf{J}_{s} \right\rangle \left| \Phi_{N_{x},N_{y}}^{(s)} \right\rangle \\ &= A_{0} e^{i\phi_{0}} \left| \mathbf{J}_{0} \right\rangle \left| - \right\rangle \left| 1 \right\rangle + A_{1} e^{i\phi_{1}} \left| \mathbf{J}_{1} \right\rangle \left| + \right\rangle \left| 1 \right\rangle \\ &+ A_{2} e^{i\phi_{2}} \left| \mathbf{J}_{2} \right\rangle \left| + \right\rangle \left| 2 \right\rangle + A_{3} e^{i\phi_{3}} \left| \mathbf{J}_{3} \right\rangle \left| - \right\rangle \left| 2 \right\rangle, \quad (111) \end{aligned}$$

where the state of polarization  $|\mathbf{J}_s\rangle$  is two dimensions, which can be linearly expanded by bases of  $|D\rangle$  and  $|A\rangle$ . Therefore, the SU(2) vector beam of equation (111) is expressed in 8-dimensional space with bases of  $|+\rangle|1\rangle|D\rangle$ ,  $|-\rangle|1\rangle|D\rangle$ ,  $|+\rangle|2\rangle|D\rangle$ ,  $|+\rangle|1\rangle|A\rangle$ ,  $|-\rangle|2\rangle|D\rangle$ ,  $|-\rangle|1\rangle|A\rangle$ ,  $|+\rangle|2\rangle|A\rangle$ , and  $|+\rangle|2\rangle|A\rangle$ .

We can control the SU(2) geometric beam into ray-like state and then make special modulations to realize various classical Greenberger–Horne–Zeilinger (GHZ) states, the maximally entangled states for multiple particles, see equations (112)– (115), as specific cases:

- $|\Phi^+\rangle$ :  $A_0 = A_2 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$ ,  $A_1 = A_3 = 0$ ,  $\phi_0 = \phi_2$ ,  $\mathbf{J}_0 = |D\rangle$  and  $\mathbf{J}_2 = |A\rangle$ ;
- $\begin{array}{l} \mathbf{J}_2 = |A\rangle; \\ \bullet \ |\Phi^-\rangle: A_0 = A_2 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, A_1 = A_3 = 0, \ \phi_0 = \phi_2 + \pi, \ \mathbf{J}_0 = |D\rangle \\ \text{and } \mathbf{J}_2 = |A\rangle; \end{array}$
- $|\Psi_1^+\rangle$ :  $A_1 = A_3 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$ ,  $A_0 = A_2 = 0$ ,  $\phi_1 = \phi_3$ ,  $\mathbf{J}_1 = |D\rangle$  and  $\mathbf{J}_3 = |A\rangle$ ;
- $|\Psi_1^{-}\rangle$ :  $A_1 = A_3 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$ ,  $A_0 = A_2 = 0$ ,  $\phi_1 = \phi_3 + \pi$ ,  $\mathbf{J}_1 = |D\rangle$ and  $\mathbf{J}_3 = |A\rangle$ ;
- $|\Psi_2^+\rangle$ :  $A_0 = A_3 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$ ,  $A_1 = A_2 = 0$ ,  $\phi_0 = \phi_3$ ,  $\mathbf{J}_0 = |D\rangle$  and  $\mathbf{J}_3 = |A\rangle$ :
- **J**<sub>3</sub> =  $|A\rangle$ ; •  $|\Psi_2^-\rangle$ :  $A_0 = A_3 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$ ,  $A_1 = A_2 = 0$ ,  $\phi_0 = \phi_3 + \pi$ ,  $\mathbf{J}_0 = |D\rangle$ and  $\mathbf{J}_3 = |A\rangle$ ;

- $|\Psi_3^+\rangle$ :  $A_0 = A_2 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$ ,  $A_1 = A_3 = 0$ ,  $\phi_0 = \phi_2$ ,  $\mathbf{J}_0 = |A\rangle$  and  $\mathbf{J}_2 = |D\rangle$ ;
- $|\Psi_3^-\rangle$ :  $A_0 = A_2 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$ ,  $A_1 = A_3 = 0$ ,  $\phi_0 = \phi_2 + \pi$ ,  $\mathbf{J}_0 = |A\rangle$ and  $\mathbf{J}_2 = |D\rangle$ ;

where the GHZ states are given by:

$$\left|\Phi^{\pm}\right\rangle = \frac{\left|+\right\rangle\left|1\right\rangle\left|D\right\rangle \pm \left|-\right\rangle\left|2\right\rangle\left|A\right\rangle}{\sqrt{2}},\tag{112}$$

$$|\Psi_{1}^{\pm}\rangle = \frac{|-\rangle|1\rangle|D\rangle\pm|+\rangle|2\rangle|A\rangle}{\sqrt{2}},$$
 (113)

$$\left|\Psi_{2}^{\pm}\right\rangle = \frac{\left|+\right\rangle\left|2\right\rangle\left|D\right\rangle \pm \left|-\right\rangle\left|1\right\rangle\left|A\right\rangle}{\sqrt{2}},$$
(114)

$$\left|\Psi_{3}^{\pm}\right\rangle = \frac{\left|+\right\rangle\left|1\right\rangle\left|A\right\rangle \pm \left|-\right\rangle\left|2\right\rangle\left|D\right\rangle}{\sqrt{2}}.$$
(115)

The 3D intensity patterns of various GHZ states with various polarization projection states ( $\theta_P = 0, \pi/2, \pi, \text{ and } 3\pi/2$ ) are shown in figure 28, where we set  $N_x = N_y$  in simulation. When the vortex geometric mode is reduced into planar geometric mode, i.e.  $N_x$  or  $N_y = 0$ , we can directly use intensity pattern  $\langle \Psi_{N_x,N_y}^{\pm} | \Psi_{N_x,N_y}^{\pm} \rangle$  to observe the interference effect among suborbits, as shown in figure 5 in the main article for various GHZ states. By experimentally measuring the amplitude, phase, and polarization of each orbit (the phase can be reconstructed by the interference pattern among various basic states), we can evaluate the experimental state:

$$\begin{aligned} |\psi_{exp}\rangle &= \alpha_{1} |+\rangle |1\rangle |D\rangle + \alpha_{2} |-\rangle |1\rangle |D\rangle + \alpha_{3} |+\rangle |2\rangle |D\rangle \\ &+ \alpha_{4} |+\rangle |1\rangle |A\rangle + \alpha_{5} |-\rangle |2\rangle |D\rangle + \alpha_{6} |-\rangle |1\rangle |A\rangle \\ &+ \alpha_{7} |+\rangle |2\rangle |A\rangle + \alpha_{8} |-\rangle |2\rangle |A\rangle , \end{aligned}$$
(116)

reconstitute the density matrix  $\hat{\rho}_{exp} = |\psi_{exp}\rangle\langle\psi_{exp}|$  for each experimental GHZ state, and calculate the fidelities  $F = \langle \Phi^{\pm} | \hat{\rho}_{exp} | \Phi^{\pm} \rangle$  and  $F = \langle \Psi_i^{\pm} | \hat{\rho}_{exp} | \Psi_i^{\pm} \rangle$  (*i* = 1, 2, 3) comparing with the theoretical density matrices of GHZ states.

Hereto, we can already generate a complete set of GHZ states from a laser, sharing the same form of three-photon quantum entanglement. The general SU(2) geometric modes also have potential to be used to generate even higher-dimensional entanglement states with the form of *N*-photon (N > 3) quantum entanglement. To this end, we should find more DoFs to extend the dimension in classical entanglement such as OAM. As shown in figures 29(a)–(d), two SU(2) geometric modes with opposite OAM can be superposed together fulfilling a complete oscillating trajectory in a cavity, which can also be experimentally realized [72]. After inhomogeneous intensity and polarization modulation, this kind of general SU(2) geometric modes should be represented in 16-D Hilbert space like the 4-photon quantum entanglement:



**Figure 28.** Control of four maximumly entangled groups in GHZ states. The experimental and theoretical results of four general SU(2) vector beams corresponding to the four maximumly entangled groups in classical GHZ states. The white arrow means the allowed polarization orientation of the polarizer. The plot on the left for each group shows the theoretical spatial wave-packet of the corresponding SU(2)-like vector beams.  $|\Phi^{\pm}\rangle$ : the SU(2)-like vector beam with diagonal intensity pattern where  $|+1\rangle$  orbit with diagonal polarization  $|-2\rangle$  orbit with anti-diagonal polarization;  $|\Psi_1^{\pm}\rangle$ : anti-diagonal intensity pattern,  $|-1\rangle$  orbit with diagonal polarization  $|+2\rangle$  orbit with anti-diagonal polarization;  $|\Psi_2^{\pm}\rangle$ : anti-diagonal intensity pattern,  $|+2\rangle$  orbit with diagonal polarization  $|-1\rangle$  orbit with anti-diagonal polarization.

$$\begin{split} |\psi\rangle &= \alpha_{1} |+\ell\rangle |+\rangle |1\rangle |H\rangle + \alpha_{2} |-\ell\rangle |+\rangle |1\rangle |H\rangle \\ &+ \alpha_{3} |+\ell\rangle |+\rangle |1\rangle |V\rangle + \alpha_{4} |-\ell\rangle |+\rangle |1\rangle |V\rangle \\ &+ \alpha_{5} |+\ell\rangle |-\rangle |1\rangle |H\rangle + \alpha_{6} |-\ell\rangle |-\rangle |1\rangle |H\rangle \\ &+ \alpha_{7} |+\ell\rangle |-\rangle |1\rangle |V\rangle + \alpha_{8} |-\ell\rangle |-\rangle |1\rangle |V\rangle \\ &+ \alpha_{9} |+\ell\rangle |+\rangle |2\rangle |H\rangle + \alpha_{10} |-\ell\rangle |+\rangle |2\rangle |H\rangle \\ &+ \alpha_{11} |+\ell\rangle |+\rangle |2\rangle |V\rangle + \alpha_{12} |-\ell\rangle |+\rangle |2\rangle |V\rangle \\ &+ \alpha_{13} |+\ell\rangle |-\rangle |2\rangle |H\rangle + \alpha_{14} |-\ell\rangle |-\rangle |2\rangle |H\rangle \\ &+ \alpha_{15} |+\ell\rangle |-\rangle |2\rangle |V\rangle + \alpha_{16} |-\ell\rangle |-\rangle |2\rangle |V\rangle , \quad (117) \end{split}$$

with 16 (4 partite and 8 maximumly entangled group) GHZ states as eigenstates (just show the first maximumly entangled group here):

$$\left|\Phi^{\pm}\right\rangle = \frac{\left|+\ell\right\rangle\left|+\right\rangle\left|1\right\rangle\left|D\right\rangle\pm\left|-\ell\right\rangle\left|-\right\rangle\left|2\right\rangle\left|A\right\rangle}{\sqrt{2}}.$$
 (118)

For exploring more DoFs to extend the dimension in classical entanglement, we can utilize multi-LG SU(2) beams [48, 49], where LG beams replace the Gaussian beams along SU(2) orbits in a geometric mode based on ray-wave duality. Thus, there is a main OAM state  $|+\ell\rangle$  along the propagation axis, but also OAM  $|+m\rangle$  along an SU(2) orbit. The sub-OAM  $|+m\rangle$  has potential to be a DoF to reach higher-dimensional entanglement. As shown in figures 29(e) and (f), exotic beams can be obtained by the superposition of two multi-LG SU(2) beams with opposite main OAM, realizing the 32D entangled stated with 5-partite 16-group GHZ states

as eigenstates (just show the first maximumly entangled group here):

$$\left|\Phi^{\pm}\right\rangle = \frac{\left|+m\right\rangle\left|+\ell\right\rangle\left|+\right\rangle\left|1\right\rangle\left|D\right\rangle\pm\left|-m\right\rangle\left|-\ell\right\rangle\left|2\right\rangle\left|A\right\rangle}{\sqrt{2}}.$$
(119)

Besides finding more DoFs, increasing the number of orbits can also extend the dimension. The above demonstrations are all at degenerate state  $|\Omega = 1/4\rangle$ . If we can control higher-order degenerate state  $|\Omega = P/Q\rangle$  (*P* and *Q* are co-prime integers, *Q* is even), the general SU(2) geometric modes would be extended into 4 *Q*-dimensional space:

$$|\psi\rangle = \sum_{i=\pm\ell} \sum_{j=\pm}^{Q/2} \sum_{k=1}^{Q/2} |i\rangle |j\rangle |k\rangle (\alpha_{ijk} |H\rangle + \beta_{ijk} |V\rangle).$$
(120)

Involving the sub-OAM in multi-LG SU(2) beams, that can be further extended into 8 *Q*-dimensional space:

$$\begin{split} |\psi\rangle &= \sum_{h=\pm m} \sum_{i=\pm \ell} \sum_{j=\pm} \sum_{k=1}^{Q/2} |h\rangle |i\rangle |j\rangle |k\rangle \\ &\times \left(\alpha_{hijk} |H\rangle + \beta_{hijk} |V\rangle\right). \end{split} \tag{121}$$

The realization of high-dimensional classical entanglement can pave the way for developing a myriad of novel applications of quantum mechanism using classical light.



**Figure 29.** Towards higher-dimensional classical entanglement. Spatial SU(2) geometric beams can carry OAM and the OAM can be a DoF manifesting additional dimensions in classical entanglement. (a) A superposed trajectory on SU(2) state  $|\Omega = 1/4\rangle$  including the positive-OAM and negative-OAM decomposed SU(2) trajectories, (b) which can exactly fulfill a complete SU(2) oscillation in a degenerate cavity. (c) Based on the ray-wave duality, the corresponding geometric mode can be represented by the superposition of a positive-OAM and a negative-OAM vortex SU(2) beams (the topological phase manifesting the OAM and intensity wave-packet are shown in the inserts). This generalized beam can be expressed into 16-dimensional state with 4 DoFs and 16 eigenstates noted in (d). (e) An exotic multi-vortex SU(2)-structured mode is obtained by the superposition of two multi-vortex SU(2) geometric modes with opposite main-OAMs, and the sub-OAM carried by each sub-ray mode can also play as a new DoF, where the notation  $|\pm \ell\rangle$  refers to the OAM topological charge at the beam center (as marked by the yellow dashed circle) and  $|\pm m\rangle$  the OAM topological along each sub-ray (as marked by the purple dashed circle). This generalized beam can be expressed into 32-dimensional state with 5 DoFs and 32 eigenstates noted in (f).

### 9. Potential applications

In recent years, the creation and control of various SU(2) structured light has made major breakthrough with more DoFs of light tamed, which has promised the advances in a myriad of applications. However, the development of these potential applications is in its infancy. Thus, it is important to outlook on some applications in this section.

### 9.1. Laser machining and fabrication

The recent development of solid-state laser allows not only the generation of various SU(2) structured light but also higher output power and energy beyond the threshold to be applied in laser machining and fabrication [140]. Many advanced laser technologies, e.g. Q-switching and mode-locking, were used to generate high-power and large-energy pulse from a laser, and these methods were applied in structured light laser to generate high-power and large-energy SU(2) structured light. The self-mode-locking effect of Nd:YVO<sub>4</sub> crystal was

applied in solid-state laser to generate the SU(2) structured ultrashort pulse with pulse-width about 30 ps and the average output power at 500 mW, which is applied for both planar geometric modes [141] and vortex geometric modes [142]. Then, the passively Q-switching scheme was used to further improve the output power with output energy and peak power towards over 100  $\mu$ J and 10 kW [143]. Recently, a method for optimizing high-power geometric mode is proposed, considering the thermal lensing effect in the gain medium, which allows the output of geometric mode to hold several-Wattlevel average power [144]. Soon after, this power-optimizing method was applied in higher-order SU(2) structured light laser, which realized the Watt-level output and complex SU(2) structure simultaneously [49]. Such high-power output optimization was also verified in higher-order Lissajous structured modes [145]. In short, the recent advance of high-power SU(2) structured light laser has promised the enough power output to be applied in laser machining and fabrication. The light with complex spatial structure, especially the OAM structure, has a great potential to be used in advanced chiral material



**Figure 30.** Examples of potential applications. (a) Laser machining and fabrication: two-photon polymerization with femtosecond vortex beam for direct laser writing of microtubes. Reprinted from [136], with the permission of AIP Publishing; (b) complex tweezers and multi-particle manipulation: the trapping potential and force distributions induced by pulsed SU(2) cylindrical vector beams. Reprinted with permission from [137]. Copyright © 2018, American Chemical Society; (c) topological photonics: SU(2) twisted wave packets of the right-and left-traveling modes in a Weyl semimetal. Reproduced from [138]. CC BY 4.0; (d) high dimensional encoding and high-capacity communication: simulating multiplexed vortices passing through a Dammann vortex grating. Reproduced from [139]. CC BY 4.0.

processing and fabrication [146]. While the SU(2) structured light has more versatile spatial chiral structure than the common OAM beam to extend the frontier of material fabrication, which leads to advanced photonic devices such as metamaterials, ultra-sensitive detector, and chiral chemical composites. For example, the polygonal vortex beams can be used to produce complex 3D spiral polygonal microtubes for realizing novel polymerized functional devices [136], see figure 30(a).

### 9.2. Complex tweezers and multi-particle manipulation

With the application of optical force in biology, physics and chemistry, numerous optical tweezers and optical trapping with different properties appeared in people's field of vision [147]. Optical tweezers commonly refer to utilizing gradient and scattering forces of electromagnetic fields to manipulate micro- and nano-particles [148]. The customization of pattern and OAM has become the focus of research [149-151], including multi-spots optical trapping [149, 152], polygonal optical trapping [153], three dimensional optical trapping [154, 155], etc. Utilizing structured light to manipulate various microor nano-particles has been a hot topic in past few decades, such as Mathieu beams [156] and Ince–Gaussian beams [157] for 3D assembly of micro-particles, perfect vortex beam and asymmetrical vortex Bessel-Gaussian beams [158] for trapping micro-particles [159], non-diffracting Airy beams array for optical trapping [160] and many other advanced optical manipulations based on complex beams [152, 153, 161, 162]. SU(2) geometric beams with complex and customized spatial structure, including the OAM structure and intensity shape, have a great potential to be a toolkit in advanced optical manipulation. Based on holographic method, the generation and dynamic control of SU(2) geometric beams can be accurately and rapidly realized with high-quality via SLM [58], which is significant for flexible and controllable optical trapping and manipulation [163]. Besides, polarization and nonlinearity of light beams can also be practical tools to realize optical trapping and manipulation [137], see figure 30(b). The complex polarization structures of SU(2) geometric beams with multiple DoFs have been constructed [62, 164], demonstrating the potential applications of SU(2) geometric beams with exotic hybrid vector structure in complex tweezers and multi-particle manipulation. Researching the nonlinearity of SU(2) geometric beams would be an attractive topic to reveal more significant applications in optical manipulation.

### 9.3. Topological photonics

Since the discovery of topological phases and topological insulators in modern natural science, topological phenomena are ubiquitous in physics, with explorations spanning areas from condensed-matter physics to physical cosmology [165, 166]. In which, an important branch is topological photonics, that emulates concepts in condensed matters



**Figure 31.** (a) A customized ray-wave frequency degenerate state in laser resonator, which can realized by a manifold rotating-mirror geometric solid-state cavity, (b) the structured laser emission of various frequency-degenerate SU(2) geometric modes fulfills a mechanism of photonic Landau levels [171]. (c) The topological structure in real space of photonic Landau level laser shares a similar form of k-space structure of a topological Chern insulator, (d) and the direct measurement of the Chern number in bulk topology requires a disorder-insensitive probe of bulk chiral nonreciprocity [172].

and topological insulators into optical or photonic systems [167–170]. The frequency-degenerate cavity and the enabled SU(2) geometric modes also play import role in extending the frontier of topological photonics. It was proposed that the photonic Landau levels can be realized in an SU(2) geometric mode laser cavity, see figure 31(a), with controlled frequency-degenerate states, see figure 31(b), exactly emulating the fermion energy level motion in a synthetic magnetic field [171]. Due to the similar topology of topological Chern insulators, see figures 31(c) and (d), the Landau levels of SU(2)structured light laser can be used to realize electromagnetic and gravitational responses of photonic quantum Hall materials, enabling enable precise characterization and metrology of topological matter in photon fluids [172]. Moreover, with light-mater interaction using such topological effect of structured light, the photonic Laughlin mater can be made to reveal deeper ordered states and new DoFs in light [173, 174].

Besides, significant advances have been made in high dimensional topological photonics [175, 176]. A concept of three-dimensional (3D) topological twistronics has been proposed based on a 3D layered systems with a constant twist angle between successive layers, providing a novel method to realize topological physics [138], see figure 30(c). SU(2) geometric beams also have 3D spatial distortion property in free-space propagation, which could be used to simulate the 3D topological twistronics to research high-dimensional topological physics. Active topological photonics is also a rapidly developing field due to its wide applications in topological lasers, topological edge modes, non-Hermitian topological physics, and singular optics, etc [177, 178]. SU(2) geometric beams can provide richly exotic topological phase structure for active topological photonics. Although most of advances in topological photonics is oriented to theoretical research, some technical works have been made. For example, terahertz topological photonics was used to realize low-cost, efficient and high-speed on-chip communication [179].

Topological photonics is a very attractive topic for many frontier fields such as topological quantum photonics [180],

non-Hermitian topological photonics [181], topological insulator laser [182, 183], toroidal light [184, 185], optical skyrmions and bimerons [186, 187], and calling for more fundamental ideas and exciting applications [188]. Exploring the classical structured light to simulate the topological photonics would be a significant direction and SU(2) geometric beams could offer a powerful tool to research classical simulation of topological photonics.

### 9.4. High-capacity encoding and communication

High dimensional encoding and high-capacity communication are attractive topics and structured light applied in related fields has been researched for few decades [20, 105, 189, 190]. Various properties of structured light such as OAM evolution and spatial mode structure have been demonstrated that can be used to improve high-dimensional cryptography and secure communication [191–193]. The spatial topological structure is significant for mode-division multiplexed method because spatial mode have shocking infinite DoFs in theory [194–196]. SU(2) geometric beams have rich spatial mode structures which can be accurately controlled by a series of parameters, which is a great advantage for expanding encoding dimensional and communication capacity. Meantime, the digital generation and modulation methods make it more flexible in coding and channel multiplexing [58, 139], see figure 30(d). Importantly, the SU(2) geometric light have other versatile DoFs, including central OAM, partial OAM and coherent-state phase, while all DoFs can be used for constructing higher dimensions optical communication and broadening the communication capacity. Furthermore, pulsed SU(2) laser and mode-locked SU(2) laser [141, 142, 197] were generated, which can be applied for more potential applications in high-dimensional encoding and high-capacity communications [193]. Besides, a multiplexing method for high-capacity communications without more bandwidth was proposed by exploiting the spatial shapes of 'twisted' photons [198], which provides a novel idea for expanding communication capacity. Interestingly, SU(2) geometric beams also have 'twisted' orbits during propagation in free space, which exotic spatial structure would have large potential applications in high-capacity and low-error-rate communications [199]. And another twisted optical communication solution was also researched by using OAM [200]. SU(2) geometric beam has multi-DoFs and exotic spatial structure, demonstrating its widely potential applications in realizing high dimensional encoding and high-capacity communications [199]. Recently, a precise detection method for multiple DoFs of SU(2) structured light was realized assisted by deep-learning, which also enables the design of new secret sharing protocol for high-security communications [201].

### 9.5. High-dimensional quantum information processing

Advancements in photonic quantum information processing have proven fruitful in the recent decade. The execution of cryptographic and computational protocols in the canonical polarization basis has enabled for the demonstration of these protocols. This is because polarization states are easy to control with readily available simple optical elements. For this reason, accelerated progress is now leading towards commercial deployment. However, the limiting factor with polarization encoding is low dimensionality, i.e. d = 2 dimensional encoding, which limits the information capacity per encoded photon. Much effort have been focused on accessing alternative DoFs by using the temporal and spatial DiFs to push the limits of what was previously possible.

There has been significant progress in the spatial and with hybrid spatial and polarization encoding [202, 203], of in quantum key distribution [204–206], quantum secret sharing [207–209] and computing [210, 211]. Many such quantum protocols benefit from the higher information capacities [203], higher quantum bit error rate thresholds [204] as well as high tolerance to noise [212]. The attraction towards using classical light sources instead of pure single photons, is the availability, high photon yields and ease of control. Pure single photon sources are in their infancy while generating multiphoton entanglement correlations can be a cumbersome task and the generation methods can be highly inefficient.

For this reason, advancements with single particle or classical light sources are culminating. We envisage that SU(2) structured beams can be disruptive since they open up the potential of accessing high dimensional states and multiple DoFs in a simpler way than previously possible. The rich spatial structure gives access to alternative DoFs which can play a crucial in increasing the dimensionality [62] and accessible DoFs [213]. We have seen that interfacing numerous DoFs can greatly improve the execution of quantum gates. For example, the radial and azimuthal [214] and path DoF [215] have been used to demonstration the implementation of various quantum gates [214] while in quantum secret sharing it enabled for enacting simple unitary operations via dynamic phase control [208].

The control of numerous DoFs in light fields, which the SU(2) geometric beams posses, can be beneficial for the implementing of multibit gates for quantum computing [216], e.g.

C-Not qutrit gates [217]. Moreover the extension of numerous quantum computing with classical light is well underway, with demonstrations also exploiting the internal DoFs of laser beams. Such techniques can be easily scaled up by increasing the dimensions and DoFs. The main advantage of using classical light in quantum computing, is higher signal (many photons) and implementation of quantum logic gates with simple linear optical elements that cheap and readily available. The SU(2) geometric light fields offer the key components that are required for high dimensional state encoding; high dimensional alphabet formed by OAM states, ray states and polarization states.

### 9.6. Others

In short, SU(2) geometric beam has various potential applications due to its exotic spatial mode, OAM evolution, and vector property coupled with polarization, etc. In addition to these potential applications above, there are so many other potential applications such as particle acceleration [218–221], spin-orbit Hall effects [222–225], optical frequency comb metrology [226–228], imaging and holography [229–231], waiting for researchers to explore. With recent development of ultrafast optics, the SU(2) wave packets were also studied in structured femtosecond-level ultrashort laser pulse and atomic dynamics in its interaction with matters [232, 233].

### 10. Perspectives

Structured light refers to the ability for arbitrarily tailoring the distribution of amplitude, phase, polarization, OAM and other DoFs of light, but only recently has it been possible to control it in all its DoFs and dimensions, fueling fundamental advances and applications alike. More importantly, these achievements were largely dependent on generally exploiting of the fundamental symmetries of optical systems, standing out among which is the SU(2) symmetry:

- SU(2) symmetry constitutes a cornerstone of the description of general photon flow systems;
- SU(2) symmetry acts its role of fundamental mathematics in modeling complex optical effects in both quantum and classical mechanics, such as photon statistics, beam splitting, and spin-to-orbital coupling. With the recent development of structured light;
- SU(2) symmetry shows its efficacy on 'pushing the limits' with structured light towards full control of all DoFs and high dimensions.

However, today, usage of such powerful tool in shaping light is still in a fragmented fashion in structured light community, many researchers involuntarily used it in shaping light, but missed opportunities for improving the versatile tunablity due to the lack of solid knowledge background on the general theories.

SU(2) symmetry acts as the resource to generate tremendous families of novel structured light beams, which is applied to represent a complete set of spatial eigenmodes, as well to interpret more complex coherent structured mode. In contract to the conventional structured beams, SU(2) structured light can not only hold classic optical properties, e.g. vortex beams carrying OAM and spin-to-OAM conversion of light, but also extend more parameters and DoFs to represent highdimensional structures of light.

This tutorial systematically summarized the mathematical bases of SU(2) symmetry, SU(2) transformation, and SU(2) coherent state, as an elegant unification of classic SU(2) theory and advanced structured light, and demonstrated how the theory of SU(2) states is applied to coupled oscillators (classical and quantum) and then transferred to structured light. SU(2)structured light represents the most general symmetry and geometry to tailor light, including not only the various multipath, multi-HLG, Lissajous-to-trochoidal geometric modes, etc that we mainly discussed in this tutorial, but also many other kinds of exotic wave packets to be explored. Although the SU(2) theories are existed for a long history, the development and applications of SU(2) structured light are still in adolescence, promising opportunities of its usage towards higher-dimensional energy and information carriers, as well as more and more potential applications are requiring the tailoring of more general and complex geometry of light.

### Data availability statement

The data generated and/or analyzed during the current study are not publicly available for legal/ethical reasons but are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

### Acknowledgments

The author is grateful to Zhaoyang Wang, Xilin Yang, Zhensong Wan, Yuan Meng, and Isaac Nape for useful discussions and assistance with figures, and Prof. Andrew Forbes for his help to polish this article.

### ORCID iD

Yijie Shen (b) https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6700-9902

### References

- [1] Born M and Wolf E 2013 Principles of Optics: Electromagnetic Theory of Propagation, Interference and Diffraction of Light (Amsterdam: Elsevier)
- [2] Harris J, Grillo V, Mafakheri E, Gazzadi G C, Frabboni S, Boyd R W and Karimi E 2015 *Nat. Phys.* 11 629
- [3] Walls D F and Milburn G J 2007 *Quantum Optics* (Berlin, Germany: Springer Science & Business Media)
- [4] Erhard M, Fickler R, Krenn M and Zeilinger A 2018 Light: Sci. Appl. 7 17146
- [5] Rozenberg G 1977 Sov. Phys. Usp. 20 55
- [6] Allen L, Beijersbergen M W, Spreeuw R and Woerdman J 1992 Phys. Rev. A 45 8185
- [7] Yao A M and Padgett M J 2011 Adv. Opt. Photonics 3 161

- [8] Shen Y, Wang X, Xie Z, Min C, Fu X, Liu Q, Gong M and Yuan X 2019 Light: Sci. Appl. 8 1
- [9] Forbes A, de Oliveira M and Dennis M R 2021 Nat. Photon. 15 253
- [10] Georgi H 2018 Lie Algebras in Particle Physics: From Isospin to Unified Theories (Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press)
- [11] Ban M 1993 J. Opt. Soc. Am. B 10 1347
- [12] Ban M 1993 Phys. Rev. A 47 5093
- [13] Wodkiewicz K and Eberly J 1985 J. Opt. Soc. Am. B 2 458
- [14] Campos R A, Saleh B E and Teich M C 1989 Phys. Rev. A 40 1371
- [15] Takenaka H 1973 Nouv. Rev. Opt. 4 37
- [16] Simon R and Mukunda N 1989 Phys. Lett. A 138 474
- [17] Simon R and Mukunda N 1990 Phys. Lett. A 143 165
- [18] Banerji J and Agarwal G S 1999 Opt. Express 5 220
- [19] Banerji J 2001 Pramana J. Phys. 56 267
- [20] Forbes A 2020 Opt. Photonics News 31 24
- [21] Hart J C, Francis G K and Kauffman L H 1994 ACM Trans. Graph. 13 256
- [22] Groß J, Trenkler G and Troschke S O 2001 Linear Algebr. Appl. 326 205
- [23] Hashim H A 2019 (arXiv:1909.06669)
- [24] Kumar M S and Dutta-Roy B 2008 J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 41 075306
- [25] De Bièvre S 1992 J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 25 3399
- [26] Pollett J, Méplan O and Gignoux C 1995 J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 28 7287
- [27] Gottfried K and Yan T M 2013 Quantum Mechanics: Fundamentals (Berlin, Germany: Springer Science & Business Media)
- [28] Chen Y, Tung J, Tuan P and Huang K 2017 Ann. Phys., Lpz. 529 1600253
- [29] Chen Y F 2011 Phys. Rev. A 83 032124
- [30] Chen Y, Hsieh Y and Huang K 2018 OSA Contin. 1 744
- [31] Shen Y, Meng Y, Fu X and Gong M 2019 J. Opt. Soc. Am. A 36 578
- [32] Varshalovich D A, Moskalev A N and Khersonskii V K 1988 Quantum Theory of Angular Momentum (Singapore: World Scientific)
- [33] Perelomov A 2012 Generalized Coherent States and Their Applications (Berlin, Germany: Springer Science & Business Media)
- [34] Fox R F and Choi M H 2000 Phys. Rev. A 61 032107
- [35] Chen Y, Jiang C, Lan Y and Huang K 2004 Phys. Rev. A 69 053807
- [36] Schrödinger E 1926 Naturwissenschaften 14 664
- [37] Steiner F 1988 Physica B+C 151 323
- [38] Bužek V and Quang T 1989 J. Opt. Soc. Am. B 6 2447
- [39] Sanders B, Lee K and Kim M 1995 Phys. Rev. A 52 735
- [40] Kim M, Son W, Bužek V and Knight P 2002 Phys. Rev. A 65 032323
- [41] Agarwal G 1999 J. Opt. Soc. Am. A 16 2914
- [42] Chen Y, Tung J, Chiang P, Liang H and Huang K 2013 Phys. Rev. A 88 013827
- [43] Tung J, Tuan P, Liang H, Huang K and Chen Y 2016 Phys. Rev. A 94 023811
- [44] Shen Y, Wan Z, Fu X, Liu Q and Gong M 2018 J. Opt. Soc. Am. B 35 2940
- [45] Shen Y, Wan Z, Fu X and Gong M 2019 Chin. Opt. Lett. 17 031404
- [46] Schepers F, Hellwig T and Fallnich C 2020 Appl. Phys. B 126 1
- [47] Schepers F and Fallnich C 2021 Appl. Phys. B 127 1
- [48] Lu T H, Lin Y, Cexpresshen Y and Huang K 2011 Appl. Phys. B 103 991
- [49] Tuan P, Hsieh Y, Lai Y, Huang K and Chen Y 2018 Opt. Express 26 20481
- [50] Babington J 2018 Opt. Lett. 43 5591
- [51] Alonso M and Forbes G 2001 J. Opt. Soc. Am. A 18 1146

- [52] Fukushima T, Harayama T and Wiersig J 2006 Phys. Rev. A 73 023816
- [53] Shinohara S, Harayama T, Türeci H E and Stone A D 2006 Phys. Rev. A 74 033820
- [54] Habraken S J and Nienhuis G 2007 Phys. Rev. A 75 033819
- [55] Arnaud J 1969 Appl. Opt. 8 189
- [56] Ramsay I and Degnan J 1970 Appl. Opt. 9 385
- [57] Chen Y, Li S, Hsieh Y, Tung J, Liang H and Huang K 2019 Opt. Lett. 44 2649
- [58] Wan Z, Wang Z, Yang X, Shen Y and Fu X 2020 Opt. Express 28 31043
- [59] Babington J 2021 J. Opt. Soc. Am. A 38 817
- [60] Chen Y, Li S, Hsieh Y, Tung J, Liang H and Huang K F 2019 Opt. Lett. 44 2649
- [61] Chen Y F, Tung J, Hsieh M, Hsieh Y, Liang H and Huang K F 2019 Opt. Lett. 44 5989
- [62] Shen Y, Yang X, Naidoo D, Fu X and Forbes A 2020 Optica 7 820
- [63] Herriott D, Kogelnik H and Kompfner R 1964 Appl. Opt. 3 523
- [64] Sennaroglu A and Fujimoto J G 2003 Opt. Express 11 1106
- [65] Tarsitano C G and Webster C R 2007 Appl. Opt. 46 6923
- [66] Robert C 2007 Appl. Opt. 46 5408
- [67] Shen Y, Wan Z, Meng Y, Fu X and Gong M 2018 IEEE Photon. J. 10 1503016
- [68] Chen Y F, Tung J, Tuan P and Huang K F 2017 Ann. Phys., Lpz. 529 1600253
- [69] Herriott D R and Schulte H J 1965 Appl. Opt. 4 883
- [70] Courtois J, Mohamed A and Romanini D 2013 Phys. Rev. A 88 043844
- [71] Lu T H and Lin L 2012 Appl. Phys. B 106 863
- [72] Lu T H and He C 2015 Opt. Express 23 20876
- [73] Guo R, Shen Y, Meng Y and Gong M 2019 Chin. Phys. B 28 044204
- [74] Shen Y, Zhang W, Gong M, Meng Y, Wang Y and Fu X 2017 Appl. Sci. 7 470
- [75] Shen Y, Gong M, Ji E, Fu X and Sun L 2017 Opt. Commun. 383 430
- [76] Shen Y, Gong M and Fu X 2018 Appl. Phys. B 124 85
- [77] Arrizón V, Ruiz U, Carrada R and González L A 2007 J. Opt. Soc. Am. A 24 3500
- [78] Rosales-Guzmán C and Forbes A 2017 How to Shape Light With Spatial Light Modulators (Bellingham, WA: SPIE Press)
- [79] Scholes S, Kara R, Pinnell J, Rodríguez-Fajardo V and Forbes A 2019 Opt. Eng., Bellingham 59 041202
- [80] Ren Y, Fang Z, Gong L, Huang K and Lu R 2015 J. Opt. 17 125604
- [81] Ren Y X, Fang Z X, Gong L, Huang K, Chen Y and Lu R D 2015 J. Appl. Phys. 117 133106
- [82] Wang Z, Shen Y, Liu Q and Fu X 2021 arXiv:2102.02715
- [83] Padgett M J and Courtial J 1999 Opt. Lett. 24 430
- [84] Milione G, Sztul H, Nolan D and Alfano R 2011 Phys. Rev. Lett. 107 053601
- [85] Yi X, Liu Y, Ling X, Zhou X, Ke Y, Luo H, Wen S and Fan D 2015 Phys. Rev. A 91 023801
- [86] Habraken S J and Nienhuis G 2010 Opt. Lett. 35 3535
- [87] Dennis M R and Alonso M A 2017 Phil. Trans. R. Soc. A 375 20150441
- [88] Gutiérrez-Cuevas R, Dennis M and Alonso M 2019 J. Opt. 21 084001
- [89] Alonso M A and Dennis M R 2017 Optica 4 476

**120** 233602

- [90] Alonso M and Dennis M 2019 J. Phys. Photon. 1 025003[91] Gutiérrez-Cuevas R, Dennis M R and Alonso M A 2019
- J. Opt. 21 084001 [92] Malhotra T, Gutiérrez-Cuevas R, Hassett J, Dennis M, Vamivakas A and Alonso M 2018 *Phys. Rev. Lett.*

- [93] Alonso M A and Forbes G W 2002 Opt. Express 10 728
- [94] Gutiérrez-Cuevas R, Wadood S, Vamivakas A and Alonso M 2020 Phys. Rev. Lett. 125 123903
- [95] Gutiérrez-Cuevas R and Alonso M 2020 Opt. Lett. 45 6759
- [96] Shen Y, Wang Z, Fu X, Naidoo D and Forbes A 2020 Phys. Rev. A 102 031501
- [97] Razueva E and Abramochkin E 2019 J. Opt. Soc. Am. A 36 1089
- [98] Volyar A, Abramochkin E, Razueva E, Bretsko M and Akimova Y E 2021 J. Opt. 23 044003
- [99] Wang Z, Shen Y, Naidoo D, Fu X and Forbes A 2021 Opt. Express 29 315
- [100] Blumel R 2011 Advanced Quantum Mechanics: The Classical-Quantum Connection (Sudbury, Massachusetts, US: Jones & Bartlett Publishers)
- [101] Babington J 2018 Opt. Lett. 43 5591
- [102] Beijersbergen M, Allen L, van der Veen H and Woerdman J 1993 Opt. Commun. 96 123
- [103] Chen Y F, Chang C, Lee C, Tung J, Liang H and Huang K F 2017 Laser Phys. 28 015002
- [104] Dorrah A H, Rubin N A, Zaidi A, Tamagnone M and Capasso F 2020 Longitudinally variable polarization optics 2020 Conf. on Lasers and Electro-Optics (CLEO) pp 1–2
- [105] Forbes A 2019 Laser Photonics Rev. 13 1900140
- [106] Rosales-Guzmán C, Ndagano B and Forbes A 2018 J. Opt. 20 123001
- [107] Arlt J and Dholakia K 2000 Opt. Commun. 177 297
- [108] Liang H C and Lin H Y 2020 Opt. Lett. 45 2307
- [109] Durnin J, Miceli J J Jr and Eberly J H 1987 Phys. Rev. Lett. 58 1499
- [110] Chen Y F, Lin Y C, Zhuang W Z, Liang H C, Su K W and Huang K F 2012 Phys. Rev. A 85 043833
- [111] Robinett R W 2003 Eur. J. Phys. 24 231
- [112] Lugiato L, Oldano C and Narducci L 1988 *J. Opt. Soc. Am.* B 5 879
- [113] Chen Y F and Huang K F 2003 Phys. Rev. E 68 066207
- [114] Chen Y F, Huang K F and Lan Y P 2002 *Phys. Rev.* E 66 046215
- [115] Liu C, Lu T H, Chen Y F and Huang K F 2006 *Phys. Rev.* E 74 046214
- [116] Huang K F, Chen Y F, Lai H and Lan Y P 2002 Phys. Rev. Lett. 89 224102
- [117] Chen C, Yu Y, Chen R C, Huang Y, Su K W, Chen Y F and Huang K F 2009 Phys. Rev. Lett. 102 044101
- [118] Tuan P, Yu Y, Huang K F and Chen Y F 2019 *Opt. Lett.* 44 3034
- [119] Gmachl C, Capasso F, Narimanov E, Nöckel J U, Stone A D, Faist J, Sivco D L and Cho A Y 1998 Science 280 1556
- [120] Fang H H, Ding R, Lu S Y, Yang Y D, Chen Q D, Feng J, Huang Y Z and Sun H B 2013 Laser Photonics Rev. 7 281
- [121] Gensty T, Becker K, Fischer I, Elsäßer W, Degen C, Debernardi P and Bava G P 2005 Phys. Rev. Lett. 94 233901
- [122] Cao H and Wiersig J 2015 Rev. Mod. Phys. 87 61
- [123] Bittner S et al 2018 Science 361 1225
- [124] Bittner S, Kim K, Zeng Y, Wang Q J and Cao H 2020 New J. Phys. 22 083002
- [125] Cerjan A, Bittner S, Constantin M, Guy M, Zeng Y, Wang Q J, Cao H and Stone A D 2019 *Phys. Rev.* A 100 063814
- [126] Kim K, Bittner S, Zeng Y, Liew S F, Wang Q and Cao H 2019 Appl. Phys. Lett. 115 071101
- [127] Cao H, Chriki R, Bittner S, Friesem A A and Davidson N 2019 Nat. Rev. Phys. 1 156
- [128] Lin Y C, Lu T H, Huang K F and Chen Y F 2012 *Phys. Rev.* E **85** 046217
- [129] Wang C, Ren Y, Liu T, Liu Z, Qiu S, Li Z, Ding Y and Wu H 2021 Opt. Commun. 497 127185

- [130] Tung J, Ma Y, Miyamoto K, Chen Y F and Omatsu T 2018 Sci. Rep. 8 16576
- [131] Ugalde-Ontiveros J, Jaimes-Nájera A, Gómez-Correa J and Chávez-Cerda S 2021 Opt. Laser Technol. 143 107340
- [132] Konrad T and Forbes A 2019 Contemp. Phys. 60 1
- [133] Forbes A, Aiello A and Ndagano B 2019 Prog. Opt. 64 99
- [134] Ghose P and Mukherjee A 2014 Rev. Theor. Sci. 2 274
- [135] Guzman-Silva D et al 2016 Laser Photonics Rev. 10 317
- [136] Yang L et al 2017 Appl. Phys. Lett. 110 221103
- [137] Zhang Y et al 2018 Nano Lett. 18 5538
- [138] Wu F, Zhang R X and Sarma S D 2020 *Phys. Rev. Res.* 2 022010
- [139] Fu S, Zhai Y, Zhou H, Zhang J and Gao C 2019 Opt. Express 27 33111
- [140] Jesacher A and Booth M J 2010 Opt. Express 18 21090
- [141] Liang H, Wu T, Tung J, Tsou C, Huang K F and Chen Y F 2013 Laser Phys. Lett. 10 105804
- [142] Tung J, Omatsu T, Liang H, Huang K and Chen Y 2017 Opt. Express 25 22769
- [143] Tuan P H, Liang H C, Huang K F and Chen Y F 2018 IEEE J. Sel. Top. Quantum Electron. 24 1600809
- [144] Hsieh Y, Lai Y, Tsou C, Liang H, Huang K F and Chen Y F 2018 Laser Phys. Lett. 15 075802
- [145] Tuan P, Cheng K and Cheng Y 2021 Opt. Express 29 22957
- [146] Omatsu T, Miyamoto K, Toyoda K, Morita R, Arita Y and
- Dholakia K 2019 Adv. Opt. Mater. 7 1801672
- [147] Otte E and Denz C 2020 Appl. Phys. Rev. 7 041308
- [148] Grier D G 2003 Nature 424 810
- [149] Woerdemann M, Alpmann C, Esseling M and Denz C 2013 Laser Photonics Rev. 7 839
- [150] Grier D A 2003 A revolution in optical manipulation *Nature* p 810–6
- [151] Bradac C 2018 Adv. Opt. Mater. 6 1800005
- [152] Kuo C-F and Chu S-C 2013 Opt. Express 21 26418
- [153] Wang H, Tang L, Ma J, Zheng X, Song D, Hu Y, Li Y and Chen Z 2019 Photon. Res. 7 1101
- [154] Zhao J, Chremmos I D, Song D, Christodoulides D N and Chen Z 2015 Sci. Rep. 5 12086
- [155] Barak H, Sahar F, Harel N, Tamir A, Yaniv E, Yael R and Alon B 2018 Optica 5 551
- [156] Alpmann C, Bowman R, Woerdemann M, Padgett M and Denz C 2010 Opt. Express 18 26084
- [157] Woerdemann M, Alpmann C and Denz C 2011 Appl. Phys. Lett. 98 111101
- [158] Chen M, Mazilu M, Arita Y, Wright E M and Dholakia K 2013 Opt. Lett. 38 4919
- [159] Kotlyar V, Kovalev A and Porfirev A 2016 J. Appl. Phys. 120 023101
- [160] Suarez R A, Neves A A and Gesualdi M R 2021 Opt. Laser Technol. 135 106678
- [161] Woerdemann M, Alpmann C, Esseling M and Denz C 2013 Laser Photonics Rev. 7 839
- [162] Kovalev A A, Kotlyar V V and Porfirev A P 2016 Opt. Lett. 41 2426
- [163] Tang X, Nan F and Yan Z 2020 Nanoscale Adv. 2 2540
- [164] Wang Z, Shen Y, Naidoo D, Fu X and Forbes A 2021 Opt. Express 29 315
- [165] Kosterlitz J M 2017 Rev. Mod. Phys. 89 040501
- [166] Haldane F D M 2017 Rev. Mod. Phys. 89 040502
- [167] Lu L, Joannopoulos J D and Soljačić M 2014 Nat. Photon. 8 821
- [168] Khanikaev A B and Shvets G 2017 Nat. Photon. 11 763
- [169] Ozawa T et al 2019 Rev. Mod. Phys. 91 015006
- [170] Smirnova D, Leykam D, Chong Y and Kivshar Y 2020 Appl. Phys. Rev. 7 021306
- [171] Schine N, Ryou A, Gromov A, Sommer A and Simon J 2016 Nature 534 671
- [172] Schine N, Chalupnik M, Can T, Gromov A and Simon J 2019 Nature 565 173

- [173] Clark L W, Schine N, Baum C, Jia N and Simon J 2020 Nature 582 41
- [174] Corman L 2020 Nature **582** 37
- [175] Kim M, Jacob Z and Rho J 2020 *Light: Sci. Appl.* 9 130
- [176] Chen Z, Buljan H and Leykam D 2020 *Light: Sci. Appl.* 9 203
- [177] Ota Y, Takata K, Ozawa T, Amo A and Iwamoto S 2020 Nanophotonics 9 547
- [178] Soskin M, Boriskina S V, Chong Y, Dennis M R and Desyatnikov A 2017 J. Opt. 19 010401
- [179] Yang Y, Yamagami Y, Yu X, Pitchappa P, Webber J, Zhang B, Fujita M, Nagatsuma T and Singh R 2020 Nat. Photon. 14 446
- [180] Barik S, Karasahin A, Flower C, Cai T, Miyake H, DeGottardi W, Hafezi M and Waks E 2018 Science 359 666
- [181] Zhao H, Qiao X, Wu T, Midya B, Longhi S and Feng L 2019 Science 365 1163
- [182] Harari G, Bandres M A, Lumer Y, Rechtsman M C, Chong Y, Khajavikhan M, Christodoulides D N and Segev M 2018 Science 359 eaar4003
- [183] Bandres M A, Wittek S, Harari G, Parto M, Ren J, Segev M, Christodoulides D N and Khajavikhan M 2018 Science 359 eaar4005
- [184] Zdagkas A, Shen Y, McDonnell C, Deng J, Li G, Ellenbogen T, Papasimakis N and Zheludev N 2021 (arXiv:2102.03636)
- [185] Shen Y, Zdagkas A, Papasimakis N and Zheludev N I 2021 Phys. Rev. Res. 3 013236
- [186] Tsesses S, Ostrovsky E, Cohen K, Gjonaj B, Lindner N and Bartal G 2018 Science 361 993
- [187] Shen Y, Hou Y, Papasimakis N and Zheludev N I 2021 Nat. Commun. 12 5891
- [188] Segev M and Bandres M A 2021 Nanophotonics 10 425
- [189] Du J and Wang J 2015 Opt. Lett. 40 4827
- [190] Willner A E and Liu C 2021 Nanophotonics 10 225
- [191] Otte E, Nape I, Rosales-Guzmán C, Denz C, Forbes A and Ndagano B 2020 J. Opt. Soc. Am. B 37 A309
- [192] Fang X, Ren H and Gu M 2020 Nat. Photon. 14 102
- [193] Qiao Z, Wan Z, Xie G, Wang J, Qian L and Fan D 2020 PhotoniX 1 1
- [194] Larocque H, D'Errico A, Ferrer-Garcia M F, Carmi A, Cohen E and Karimi E 2020 *Nat. Commun.* **11** 1
- [195] Zhang J, Liu J, Shen L, Zhang L, Luo J, Liu J and Yu S 2020 Photon. Res. 8 1236
- [196] Bai N et al 2012 Opt. Express 20 2668
- [197] Tung J, Liang H C, Tuan P, Chang F, Huang K F, Lu T and Chen Y F 2015 Laser Phys. Lett. 13 025001
- [198] Torres J P 2012 Nat. Photon. 6 420
- [199] Wan Z, Shen Y, Wang Z, Shi Z, Liu Q and Fu X 2021 (arXiv:2110.08815) [physics.optics]
- [200] Wang J 2016 Twisted communications: using orbital angular momentum *Optical Fiber Communications Conf. & Exhibition*
- [201] Wang H et al 2021 Nanophotonics (https://doi.org/10.1515/ nanoph-2021-0489)
- [202] Forbes A and Nape I 2019 AVS Quantum Sci. 1 011701
- [203] Cozzolino D, Da Lio B, Bacco D and Oxenløwe L K 2019 Adv. Quantum Technol. 2 1900038
- [204] Mafu M et al 2013 Phys. Rev. A 88 032305
- [205] Bouchard F, Sit A, Heshami K, Fickler R and Karimi E 2018 Phys. Rev. A 98 010301
- [206] Mirhosseini M, Magaña-Loaiza O S, O'Sullivan M N, Rodenburg B, Malik M, Lavery M P, Padgett M J, Gauthier D J and Boyd R W 2015 New J. Phys. 17 033033
- [207] De Oliveira M, Nape I, Pinnell J, TabeBordbar N and Forbes A 2020 Phys. Rev. A 101 042303

- [208] Pinnell J, Nape I, de Oliveira M, TabeBordbar N and Forbes A 2020 Laser Photonics Rev. 14 2000012
- [209] Smania M, Elhassan A M, Tavakoli A and Bourennane M 2016 npj Quantum Inf. 2 16010
- [210] Goyal S K, Roux F S, Forbes A and Konrad T 2013 Phys. Rev. Lett. 110 263602
- [211] Sephton B et al 2019 PLoS One 14 e0214891
- [212] Ecker S et al 2019 Phys. Rev. X 9 041042
- [213] Shen Y, Nape I, Yang X, Fu X, Gong M, Naidoo D and Forbes A 2021 Light: Sci. Appl. 10 1
- [214] Brandt F, Hiekkamäki M, Bouchard F, Huber M and Fickler R 2020 *Optica* **7** 98
- [215] Babazadeh A, Erhard M, Wang F, Malik M, Nouroozi R, Krenn M and Zeilinger A 2017 Phys. Rev. Lett. 119 180510
- [216] Wang X, Sørensen A and Mølmer K 2001 Phys. Rev. Lett. 86 3907
- [217] Rfifi S and El Baz M 2015 Quantum Inf. Process. 14 67
- [218] Siviloglou G A and Christodoulides D N 2007 *Opt. Lett.* 32 979
- [219] Li J X, Zang W P and Tian J G 2010 Opt. Lett. 35 3258
- [220] Wang Y, Ding H and Chen L Q 2018 Meccanica 53 2525

- [221] Salamin Y I and Keitel C H 2002 Phys. Rev. Lett. 88 095005
- [222] Shi P, Du L, Li C, Zayats A V and Yuan X 2021 Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. **118** e2018816118
- [223] Zhu W, Zheng H, Zhong Y, Yu J and Chen Z 2021 *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **126** 083901
- [224] Murakami S 2006 Phys. Rev. Lett. 97 236805
- [225] Bliokh K Y, Rodríguez-Fortuño F J, Nori F and Zayats A V 2015 Nat. Photon. 9 796
- [226] Udem T, Holzwarth R and Hänsch T W 2002 Nature 416 233
- [227] Diddams S A, Vahala K and Udem T 2020 *Science* **369** eaay3676
- [228] Picqué N and Hänsch T W 2019 Nat. Photon. 13 146
- [229] Liebe C C, Padgett C and Chang J 2004 Three dimensional imaging utilizing structured light 2004 IEEE Aerospace Conf. Proc. (IEEE Cat. No.04TH8720) vol 4 pp 2647–55
- [230] Cai Z, Pedrini G, Osten W, Liu X and Peng X 2020 *Opt. Lett.* **45** 3256
- [231] Geng J 2011 Adv. Opt. Photonics 3 128
- [232] Bayer T, Philipp C, Eickhoff K and Wollenhaupt M 2020 Phys. Rev. A 102 013104
- [233] Xu L, Li D, Chang J, Xi T and Hao Z 2021 *Results Phys.* 26 104334